
 
 

Nuix – Level 27, 1 Market Street, Sydney NSW 2000 – www.nuix.com    
 

MARKET RELEASE 
30 September 2021 

 

Nuix releases audited FY21 results 
 
Sydney, Australia – Nuix (ASX:NXL) advises that, further to the release on Monday 30 August 2021 of 
the Company’s Preliminary FY21 Financial Results, the Company today releases its audited FY21 
Financial Reports, Directors’ Reports and Auditor’s Reports, which are attached to this release. 

The Board confirms there are no material differences arising from completion of the FY21 audited 
reports. 
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About Nuix  

Nuix Limited is a leading provider of investigative analytics and intelligence software, with the vision 
of “finding truth in a digital world”. Nuix helps customers to process, normalise, index, enrich and 
analyse data from a multitude of different sources, solving many of their complex data challenges. The 
Nuix platform supports a range of use cases, including criminal investigations, financial crime, litigation 
support, employee and insider investigations, legal eDiscovery, data protection and privacy, and data 
governance and regulatory compliance. Headquartered in Sydney, Australia, Nuix licenses its software 
to more than 1,000 customers across 79 countries in North America, Asia Pacific and EMEA.  

For further information, please visit investors.nuix.com  
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Directors’ Report 
The Directors of Nuix Limited (Nuix) present their report for the consolidated entity comprising Nuix and its 
controlled entities (collectively referred to as the Group) in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

1.  Directors 

The following persons were Directors of Nuix during the year and up to the date of this report: 

Jeffrey Bleich  Non-Executive Director, appointed as Chairman on 18 November 2020 

Daniel Phillips  Non-Executive Director, resigned as Chairman on 18 November 2020 

Rodney Vawdrey  Executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer 

The following people were appointed Directors of Nuix on 18 November 2020, and remain in office as at the date 
of this report: 

Sir Iain Lobban  Non-Executive Director 

Susan Thomas  Non-Executive Director  

The following people were Directors of Nuix from the beginning of the year until their resignation on 18 November 
2020: 

David Standen  Non-Executive Director  

Roy Grady  Non-Executive Director 

Mark de Ambrosis  Non-Executive Director  

Anthony Castagna  Non-Executive Director 

2.  Operating and financial review 

The operating and financial review for the year ended 30 June 2021 has been designed to provide shareholders 
with a clear and concise overview of the Group’s operations, financial position, business strategies and prospects. 
The review also discusses the impact of key transactions and events that have taken place during the reporting 
period, to allow shareholders to make an informed assessment of the results. Information that, if disclosed could 
give rise to likely material detriment to Nuix, for example, information that is commercially sensitive, confidential 
or could give a third party a commercial advantage has not been included. 

The operating and financial review includes proforma numbers for FY21 and the comparative period prepared 
on the same basis as presented in the Prospectus dated 18 November 2020.  

The proforma adjustments for the year ended 30 June 2021 remove the impact of offer costs, non-recurring 
transaction costs related to a sale process explored by Nuix as an alternative to the offer, and share-based 
payment expenses in respect of existing options that were cancelled on completion. The proforma adjustments 
for FY21 also provide for a full year of listed company costs and the relevant tax impact of the pro forma 
adjustments. 

You should read the following commentary with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes in 
the Financial Report. Some parts of this commentary include information regarding the plans and strategy for the 
business and include forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the 
timing of certain events may differ materially from future results expressed or implied by the forward-looking 
statements contained in this commentary. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars to the nearest thousand 
except where indicated.  

Non-GAAP measures have been included, as we believe they provide useful information for readers to assist in 
understanding Nuix’s financial performance. Non-GAAP financial measures should not be viewed in isolation or 
considered as substitutes for measures reported in accordance with Australian equivalents to International 
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Financial Reporting Standards. These non-GAAP financial measures have not been audited or reviewed in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

2.1  Principal activities 
The principal continuing activities of the Group are the development and distribution of software. No significant 
change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year. 

2.2 Significant changes in state of affairs 
The Company completed an initial public offering (‘IPO’ or the ‘Offer’) of its shares, whereby 51,904,161 new 
shares were issued by the Company and 127,574,983 shares were offered by existing shareholders at an offer 
price of $5.31 per share. 

The Company was admitted to the Official List of ASX Limited on 4 December 2020.  

In relation to the Offer, the Company performed the following transactions: 

• Issued 51,904,161 new shares at $5.31 each; 

• Cancelled 38,961,508 existing options to acquire shares of the Company; 

• Incurred $45,409,000 of costs related to the offer, $1,014,000 related to listing fees and $2,637,000 related 
to the sale process explored by Nuix as an alternative to the offer; and 

• Granted options and performance rights as detailed in the Prospectus. 

There were no other significant changes to the state of affairs of the Group during the year. 

2.3  Business strategies 
Nuix is a leading provider of investigative analytics and intelligence software with a vision of “finding truth in a 
digital world”. Nuix’s mission is to create innovative software that empowers organisations to simply and quickly 
find the truth from any data in a digital world. Nuix software has been used in investigations into some headline 
events over the last 15 years, including the Panama Papers, the Royal Commission into Misconduct in the 
Banking, Superannuation and Financial Service Industry in Australia, organised crime rings, corporate scandals 
and terrorist activities. 

Nuix offers a software platform (Nuix platform) comprising a powerful, proprietary, data processing engine (Nuix 
Engine) and several software applications. It has been developed in‑house, shaped by feedback from 
long‑standing government and private sector customers over the past 15 years, and assists customers in solving 
many of their complex data challenges. The Nuix platform operates at a “forensic level”, providing users with a 
highly detailed, contextualised and legally defensible way of viewing and interacting with their data. In simple 
terms, Nuix’s Engine processes data fed into it by the customer, which is then available for use by the customer 
through one or more of Nuix’s applications or directly through its Application Programming Interfaces (APIs) and 
connectors. 

The market for investigative analytics and intelligence software includes the markets for eDiscovery software, 
digital forensics software, governance risk and compliance (GRC) software and endpoint security software. 

Currently, Nuix’s core markets are the eDiscovery software market and the digital forensics software market. 
Whilst these are not the only markets which Nuix serves today, they are the most relevant in terms of contribution 
to current revenue generation by Nuix. Both markets are global in nature. Nuix also operates in several other 
markets within the broader investigative analytics and intelligence software market, being the GRC software 
market and the endpoint security software market. These markets are a key part of the broader and strategic 
growth plan for Nuix and represent markets in which the Company is looking to expand its presence going 
forward.  

Nuix’s growth strategy seeks to expand its presence across geographies and in targeted industry verticals by 
winning new customers, employing an industry‑centric “land and expand” strategy across industry verticals, 
continued investment in functionality of the Nuix platform, and improvements in overall operating efficiency and 
extracting potential benefits of increased scale. In addition, Nuix believes that growth can be accelerated by 
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focusing on building a network of strategic partners to provide complementary delivery and market expansion 
capabilities, as well as through a considered approach to value accretive mergers and acquisitions. 

2.4  Group performance 
Statutory revenue rose to $176,068,000 up 0.1% on a functional currency basis, and 7.4% on a constant currency 
basis1. New business contributed $27,638,000 to revenue, with subscription-based revenue rising to 93% of the 
total revenue. 

Nuix contracted 100 new customers over the course of the year. Average new order value rose to $240,000, 
driven by higher value wins through a focus on enterprise sales. Customers displayed a continued willingness to 
enter into multi-year deals, with these contracts rising to 36.3% of revenue for the full year. 

In North America, corporate and law firms were areas of strength, with 27 new customers signed. Our US 
Government (USG) team secured several significant contract wins with governmental agencies in the latter part 
of the year, building momentum into FY22. 

Our EMEA business achieved important new customers wins during the year, with demand from Corporates 
particularly strong. In Germany we signed 27 new SaaS customers in the first year, and employees have been 
onboarded for our Southern European expansion.  

Growth in Asia Pacific was driven by key logo wins across a range of industries and included a break-through 
corporate deal in Japan. In Australia, Discover SaaS data under management tripled. 

As flagged during the second half, trading conditions affected upsell opportunities, particularly in the United 
States. In addition, the trend towards consumption-based licences impacted the timing of revenue recognition. 
Although this transition weighs on customer upsell in the short term, the shift to consumption licences, including 
SaaS, allows Nuix to benefit more fully from growth in data volumes over time. 

Table 1: Financial Highlights 

 
  

 
1 Constant currency metrics have been calculated using the below methodology: 

• Constant currency rates are calculated by dividing the total FY2020 consolidated AUD revenue associated with a currency by the total 
FY2020 transaction currency revenue of the same currency, providing a weighted average exchange rate based on statutory revenue 
transaction in FY2020. This is then checked against the average daily rate provided by the RBA for appropriateness. 

• This modified rate is then applied at a transaction level across FY2021 revenue to ensure that all metrics (region, domain, profit and 
loss department etc.) are re-weighted appropriately. 

• Where there is a cost transaction in a currency where there have been no revenue transactions, the average RBA rate for FY2020 is 
used 

• Exchange rates used for constant currency calculations were: USD 1.4975; EUR 1.6505; GBP 1.8832 and CAD 1.0931. 
2 Table 2 reconciles statutory and pro forma NPAT for FY21 and prior comparative period. 

 
FY21 
$000 

Statutory 

FY21 
$000 

Pro forma  

FY20 
$000 

Pro forma  
Variance 

Pro forma 
Revenue  176,068   176,068   175,859  209 
Cost of goods sold    (18,851)    (18,851)  (20,686) 1,835 
Gross profit   157,217   157,217   155,173  2,044 
Operating expenses  (126,697)  (90,168)  (99,711) 9,543 
EBITDA 30,520 67,049   55,462  11,587 
EBIT  (553)  35,976  27,057  8,919 
NPAT2  (1,406) 25,239  18,767 6,471 
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NPAT result 

Statutory loss after tax was $1,406,000, as against the pro forma result being a profit after tax of $25,239,000. 
The pro forma adjustments for FY21 are reconciled back to the statutory result in Table 2 below. 

Table 2: Pro forma adjustments to statutory results and comparable prior period 

EBITDA result 

Nuix’s pro forma EBITDA result of $67,049,000, up 20.9% per cent against the FY20 pro forma result, reflects 
consistent gross margins, with reduced total operating costs. 

Table 3: EBITDA result 

 
FY21 
$000 

Statutory 

FY21 
$000 

Pro forma  

FY20 
$000 

Pro forma  

Variance 
$000 

Pro forma 
Revenue  176,068   176,068   175,859  209 
Cost of goods sold    (18,851)    (18,851)  (20,686)  1,835  
Gross profit   157,217   157,217   155,173  2,044 
Gross margin % 89.3% 89.3% 88.2% 1.1% 
Sales and distribution (49,784)      (49,106) (60,725) 11,619 
Research and development (10,775)      (10,042) (8,179) (1,863) 
General and administrative (66,138)      (31,020) (30,807) (213) 
EBITDA 30,520 67,049  55,462  11,587  

 
  

 
1 Reflects incremental public company costs: Nuix’s estimate of the incremental annual costs that Nuix will incur as a result of being a listed 
company. These costs include director’s fees, ASX listing fees, share registry costs, audit and legal fees, directors’ and officers’ insurance 
premiums, investor relations costs, annual general meetings costs, annual report costs and other public company costs. The adjustment for 
the year ended 30 June 2021 reflect the inclusion of estimated costs on a pro rata basis for five months, being such a period before Nuix 
was a listed company. 
2 Removes non-recurring transaction costs arising from corporate actions: specifically the costs of a sale process explored by Nuix as an 
alternative to the offer in FY21. 
3 Removes net finance costs: as the offer proceeds have not been used to pay down existing debt facilities during the period, no adjustment 
has been made vis a vie finance costs. 
4 Removes one off offer costs: total transaction fees related to the offer were $45,409,000 of which $13,132,000 (before tax) is directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares by Nuix, and has been recognised directly in equity. The remaining $32,277,000 (before tax) relates 
to the sale of shares by the selling shareholders and is treated as an expense (within General and Administration). In addition to the costs 
related to the offer are the costs related with the listing fees of $1,014,000, which are also included in this pro forma adjustment. 
5 Removes share-based payment expense: these adjustments remove share-based payment expenses in respect of existing options that 
were cancelled on completion. 
6 Tax impact of the above adjustments: these adjustments reflect the net tax impact of the pro forma adjustments at the relevant tax rates on 
the deductible amounts. 

  FY21 
$000 

FY20 
$000 

Statutory net (loss) / profit after tax  (1,406) 23,587 
Incremental public company costs1  (2,980) (7,160) 
Corporate actions2  2,637 - 
Net finance costs3  - 341 
Offer costs4  33,291 - 
Share-based payment expense5  3,581 (65) 
Tax impact6  (9,884) 2,064 
Pro forma net profit after tax  25,239 18,767 
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Revenue 

Revenue for the financial year was $176,068,000, up 0.1% on the FY20 pro forma result.   

New business growth was underpinned by higher average new order values and a material lift in the proportion 
of multi-year deals.  Weaker net upsell detracted from the revenue outcome.  Upsell was impacted by delays 
associated with US Government purchasing decisions, along with a more challenging operating climate in the 
US, partly due to the pandemic and broader economic uncertainty. 

Traditional module-style licenses drove the bulk of statutory revenue.  Consumption licenses continued to grow, 
with perpetual licenses and services falling year on year.  The transition of customers to consumption licenses 
impacted revenue during the year, weighing on revenue growth in the short term. 

On a regional basis, the revenue fall in the US business was offset by rises in EMEA and APAC.  Industry mix 
remains well diversified, with only small proportional changes year on year by industry group. 

Software revenue metrics 

Software companies like Nuix operate on many of the same performance metrics as traditional companies, such 
as revenue and cash flow. However, understanding the performance of software companies and being able to 
benchmark them is assisted by an understanding of specific non-GAAP metrics. The primary software revenue 
metric we use is Annualised Contract Value. 

Annualised Contract Value (‘ACV’) 

Annualised Contract Value (ACV) at 30 June 2021 was $165,590,000, down 1.7% compared to 30 June 2020.  
Subscription ACV grew year on year as a result of new business won and the transition from perpetual to 
consumption licenses.   “Other ACV”, comprised of both short-term (less than 12 months) and perpetual licenses, 
and services ACV fell on the year.  Negative net upsell also detracted from the ACV outcome.  Churn was lower 
than the previous year.  

On a regional basis USA ACV fell year on year, more than offsetting the increase in ACV from EMEA and APAC. 

The composition of ACV amongst subscription and other ACV streams is illustrated below: 
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Definition and basis of preparation 

ACV is an adjusted, non-IFRS measure and does not represent Total Revenue in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASBs) or Nuix’s accounting policies or cash receipts from customers.  

ACV is used by Nuix to assess the total contract value of its software contracts on an annualised basis by 
removing fluctuations from multi-year deals contracts reflected in Nuix’s revenue, as a result of statutory revenue 
recognition requirements.  

The calculation of ACV at the end of the relevant financial period adjusts Total Revenue to account for: A) 
Revenue generated from Subscription licenses with a term of 12 months or more, as well as Consumption 
licenses which exist at the end of the relevant financial period as if those contracts’ revenues were generated 
(and recognised) in each financial year on a straight-line basis over the relevant contract period, expressed on 
an annualised basis; B) last 12-month contribution from short term Software licenses (including Perpetual 
licenses) or other Software licenses with a term of less than 12 months, excluding Consumption licenses; and C) 
the last 12-month contribution of services and third party software sales. 

Other ACV reflects the last 12-month contribution of Perpetual license sales, services and third party software 
and short-term Software licenses, or licenses with a term of less than 12 months but excluding Consumption 
licenses. 

Operating costs 

Operating costs fell year on year, with a significant foreign exchange impact lowering costs, along with lower 
headcount over the full year in some areas. Cost of Goods Sold was impacted by some favourable third party 
agreement outcomes, despite continued spend on SaaS instances to support the cloud strategy.  Sales and 
Distribution costs were lower on foreign exchange movements and lower headcount, along with reduced 
marketing and travel costs due to the pandemic.  Research and development expenses rose year on year, due 
to a lower capitalisation rate.  General and Administrative expenses were relatively flat year on year on a pro 
forma basis. 

Total spend on Research and Development for the financial year was $45,022,000 (2020: $50,911,00).  Foreign 
exchange changes accounted for most of the fall in spend.  As a proportion of overall revenue, Research and 
Development spend fell to 25.6% of revenue compared to 28.9% the prior year.  The proportion of Research and 
Development capitalised fell to 76.1% from 83.7% a year earlier. 

Net finance costs 

Table 4: Net finance costs 

 
 

FY21 
$000 

Statutory 

FY21 
$000 

Pro forma  

FY20 
$000 

Pro forma  
Variance 

Pro forma 
Net finance expense1 3,407 3,407 1,519 1,888 

Net finance expenses have increased $1,888,000 on both a pro-forma and statutory basis, due to an increase in 
realised and unrealised foreign exchange losses of $1,764,000, offset by lower interest costs of $124,000. 

 
1 Net finance expense includes other gains and losses which relate to net realised and unrealised foreign exchange losses. 
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Nuix’s cash flow generation capability 

Table 5: Summary cash flow information 

 
 

FY21 
$000 

Statutory 

FY20 
$000 

Statutory 
Variance 
Statutory 

FY21 
$000 

Pro forma 

FY20 
$000 

Pro forma 
Variance 

Pro forma 
EBITDA 30,520  62,681  (32,161) 67,049  55,462  11,587  
Add back non-cash items 4,627  5,032  (405) 1,046  5,097  (4,051) 
EBITDA ex non-cash items 35,147  67,713  (32,566) 68,095  60,559  7,536  
       
Change in working capital  (24,151)1  (8,736)  (15,415)   (24,151)  (6,928)  (17,223) 
Cash taxes  (195)  (419) 224   (195)  (419) 224  
Operating cash flow  10,801  58,558   (47,757) 43,749 53,212   (9,463) 
       
CAPEX – Property and equipment  (1,051)  (1,355) 304  (1,051)  (1,355) 304 
CAPEX – Intangibles  (34,256)  (43,476) 9,220  (34,256)  (43,476) 9,220 
Investing cash flow  (35,307)  (44,831) 9,524   (35,307)  (44,831) 9,524  
       
Free cash flow  (24,506)  13,727  (38,233) 8,442  8,381 61 
       
Issued capital  275,661   -    275,661   -     -    -    
Capitalised offer costs  (13,132)  -     (13,132)  -     -    -    
Cancellation of options  (175,614)  -     (175,614)  -     -    -    
Lease payments  (3,739)  (2,812)  (927) (3,739)  (2,812)  (927) 

Transaction costs on loans  -     (151) 151  - (1,595) 1,595    

Loan payments (25,071) -  (25,071) - - -    

Financing cash flow 58,105 (2,963) 61,068  (3,739) (4,407) 668 
       
Net cash flows  33,599   10,764 22,835 4,703 3,974 729 

 

Cash flows 

The movement in cash during the year included a number of one-off amounts associated with the offer, ASX 
listing and potential trade sale as well as the associated cash proceeds from share issuance and option 
cancellation payments.  

Operating cash flows continue to be positive on both a statutory and pro forma basis. 

 

Capital management 

Nuix listed on the Australian Securities Exchange in December after an oversubscribed IPO which raised 
$275,611,000 through the issue of 51,904,161 new shares at $5.31 each. Proceeds from the IPO have been 
used to fund option cancellation payments totalling $175,614,000 during the year. 

 
1 Change in working capital in FY21 primarily relates to an increase in unbilled revenue of $19,728,000. 
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Table 6: Reconciliation of statutory to pro forma 

 FY21 
$000 

FY20 
$000 

Statutory net cash flow  33,599   10,764 
Incremental public company costs 1  (2,980) (7,154) 
Corporate actions2  2,637 - 
Net finance costs3  - 364 
Offer costs4  46,423 - 
Offer proceeds5  (275,661) - 
Cancellation of options6  175,614 - 
Loan payments  25,071 - 
Pro forma net cash flow  4,703 3,974 

Nuix’s level of debt 

Nuix Limited currently has a Facility Agreement with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia (‘CBA’) which provides 
funding to the Company through a Cash Advance Facility. Funding under the Cash Advance Facility is made 
available under two tranches, being Tranche A for AUD $40 million, and Tranche B for USD $7.5 million. 
Accordingly, the available funding under the facilities as denominated in Australian dollars fluctuates from period 
to period, with $50,000,000 being available under these facilities as of 30 June 2021 (2020: $50,943,000). The 
Company had fully paid all of these facilities as of 30 June 2021 (2020 utilisation: $25,531,000) and has not 
drawn down any additional funding since 30 June 2021 (2020: drawdown $5,697,000 ($4,000,000 USD)). 

For the abundance of caution the Company sought (and CBA agreed to) waivers of potential technical or 
administrative breaches of the Facility Agreement which may have been subsisting as at 30 June 2021 (including 
a waiver, until 20 November 2021), of any breaches which may have arisen as a result of the ASIC investigation 
previously disclosed to the market. This waiver was entered into post the end of the financial year. The Company 
had fully paid all of those facilities as of 30 June 2021 and has not drawn down any additional funding since 30 
June 2021.  

The Facility Agreement also provides for a bank guarantee facility and CBA has issued a bank guarantee under 
that facility in an amount of $746,460 to support Nuix Limited's obligations under a real property lease. Nuix 
Limited's obligations in respect of that bank guarantee are contingent only.  

Nuix Limited continues to review its various financing options and requirements, which may include restructuring 
or refinancing its existing facilities, entering into new financing arrangements with a third party and/or cancelling 
facilities entirely. 

 

 
1 Reflects incremental public company costs: Nuix’s estimate of the incremental annual costs that Nuix will incur as a result of being a listed 
company. These costs include directors’ fees, ASX listing fees, share registry costs, audit and legal fees, directors’ and officers’ insurance 
premiums, investor relations costs, annual general meetings costs, annual report costs and other public company costs. The adjustment for 
FY21 reflects the inclusion of estimated costs on a pro rata basis for five months, being such period before Nuix was a listed company. 
2 Removes non-recurring transaction costs arising from corporate actions: specifically the costs of a sale process explored by Nuix as an 
alternative to the offer in FY21. 
3 Removes net finance costs: as the offer proceeds have not been used to pay down existing debt facilities during the period, no adjustment 
has been made vis a vie finance costs. 
4 Removes one off offer costs: total transaction fees paid during the period related to the offer were $45,409,000 of which $13,132,000 is 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares by Nuix, and has been recognised as part of financing activities. The remaining $33,291,000 
relates to the sale of shares by the selling shareholders and listing costs which are treated as an operating cash flow. In addition to the costs 
related to the offer are the costs related with the listing fees of $1,014,000, which are also included in this pro forma adjustment. 
5 Reflects the gross proceeds raised from the issuance of new shares under the offer. 
6 Reflects the payment of $175,614,000 to option holders in respect of existing options that were cancelled on completion of the offer. 
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2.5 Group financial position 
The Group remains committed to maintaining a balance sheet that positions Nuix to achieve its business 
strategies. Net cash was $70,865,000 (30 June 2020: $38,539,000).  

Nuix’s balance sheet 

Table 7: Summary balance sheet 

 
 

30 Jun 2021 
$000 

30 Jun 2020 
$000 

Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 70,865 38,539 
Trade and other receivables 63,767 51,218 
Other current assets 6,209 1,897 
Property and equipment 2,018 2,412 
Intangibles 197,415 197,155 
Other non-current assets 9,474 8,986 
Deferred tax assets and lease assets 14,261 13,371 
Total assets 364,009 313,578 
   
Liabilities   
Trade and other payables 20,325 21,031 
Deferred tax and lease liabilities 13,829 20,577 
Deferred revenue 45,360 47,791 
Provisions 3,420 3,171 
Borrowings - 25,531 
Total liabilities 82,934 118,101 
   
Equity   
Issued capital 370,696 104,227 
Reserves (174,322) 5,143 
Retained earnings 84,701 86,107 
Total equity / net assets 281,075 195,477 

Cash and cash equivalents have increased $32,326,000 primarily as a result of the impact of the IPO. Cash net 
of borrowings is $70,865,000. Other current assets have increased $4,310,000 primarily as a result of the impact 
of prepaid insurance costs incurred towards the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred revenue has decreased compared to the opening balance sheet, primarily as a result of the timing of 
revenue recognition on a significant agreement which was deferred as of the previous balance date, offset by 
amounts deferred in the current period. 

Issued capital has increased $266,469,000 as a result of the issuance of new equity totalling $275,661,000 offset 
by the portion of offer costs recognised directly in equity of $13,132,000 ($9,192,000 net of related tax effect). 

Reserves decreased $179,465,000 as a result of the movement in the foreign currency translation reserve of 
$8,478,000 and the impact of cancelling options due to option holders of $175,040,000, net of the impact of 
equity settled share-based payment expenses of $4,053,000. In addition to the equity settled share-based 
payment expenses recognised against the share-based payment reserve, a further amount of $574,000 has been 
recognised in profit and loss associated with the service period share-based payments which were modified from 
equity settled to cash settled. The movement in the foreign currency translation reserve arises from translating 
the opening net assets of US based operations using a higher closing foreign exchange rate of 1 AUD to 0.75 
USD as at 30 June 2021, compared to 1 AUD to 0.69 USD at 30 June 2020.  
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2.6 Risk Management 
The Group takes a structured approach to identifying, evaluating and managing those risks which have the 
potential to affect achievement of strategic objectives.  

The Group deals with a variety of business risks that could affect our business activities, financial position or 
operating and financial performance and these are actively assessed and managed as part of the Group’s risk 
management framework. 

To support a broad view of risk, and to seek out best practice standards appropriate to the size and risk profile 
of Nuix, we continue our investment across a range of areas enabling us to grow, support and protect our 
environment and our customers through: 

• Embedding our Risk Management Framework – the formal establishment of the risk function and the 
appointment of our Head of Risk in 2021 has allowed us to consider, record and report on our risk profile in 
an aggregated, consistent and structured way. 

• Use of independent experts – the Group seeks external input for independent review and benchmarking 
purposes across our technology and cyber posture, data privacy protections and risk management practices. 

• Investing in our people and internal expertise – individuals with expertise and dedicated focus are sought to 
supplement our resourcing and focus on areas such as data privacy, investor relations, product and 
engineering. 

• Purchase of tools and software to support and protect – just as threats evolve, so too must our suite of tools 
to prevent and detect threats. We work with a range of trusted third parties and constantly reassess that we 
have the right mix of people, processes, systems and tools to remain secure.  

Details of the Group’s major risks and associated mitigation strategies are set out below. The mitigation strategies 
are designed and continue to evolve to reduce the likelihood of the risk occurring and/or to minimise the adverse 
consequences of the risk should it happen. However, some risks are affected by factors external to, and beyond 
the control of, the Group. 

Detail on Financial Risks can be found in Section 7.1. In relation to Contingencies (Sheehy Litigation, ASIC 
Investigation and Class Action Risk), detail is provided in section 9.5. 

The Group’s operations are not significantly impacted by environmental regulations under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a state or any other territories of Australia or territory in which it operates, however, in 
recognition of its importance, climate change risk is addressed separately in the Group’s ESG report that is to be 
included with the Group’s annual report.   

In addition to addressing climate change, the ESG report will provide further detail on Nuix’s approach to Risk 
Management and the associated Risk Management Framework. Nuix is committed to maintaining high standards 
of risk management and building a culture that prioritises, values and embeds the Risk Management Framework 
to address both financial and non-financial risks in order to benefit our employees, customers and shareholders.  
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Risk Description Mitigation, Monitoring and Investment strategy 

Human Capital and Culture 

The risk of not being able to meet 
strategic and growth objectives or 
customer expectations due to an 
inability to have sufficient, appropriate 
and highly engaged staff with clear 
understanding of roles and 
responsibilities. 

• Investing in the future growth of the business by recruiting key individuals 
that will enable different product lines to be developed; 

• In a tight candidate market, evolving our employee value proposition and 
diversifying the sources and locations of finding key staff by partnering with 
a range of different organisations that can assist us in providing us with 
talent; 

• Investing in programs, processes and systems to ensure knowledge and 
skills are maintained within the company by cross-training and promoting 
existing employees into new opportunities to enable them to leverage their 
previous experience; 

• Deepening our understanding of market remuneration and offering 
remuneration that is appropriate and competitive to support, motivate and 
retain our people and ensuring that our benefits packages are comparable 
in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate;   

• Running a global wellness program for all staff to opt into participating in, 
to enable an increased engagement with our people on their wellbeing; and 

• Enabling all staff to continue to work remotely throughout the COVID-19 
pandemic, while providing support through a range of different tools and 
initiatives such as regular communication, opportunities to connect and 
remote learning. 

Corporate Strategy Alignment 

The risk of failing to invest sufficiently in 
evolving a robust corporate strategy that 
drives growth. The risk that we are not 
aligned to a common goal so do not 
prioritise or resource appropriately in 
support of achieving it. 

• Creating a mechanism to monitor effectiveness of strategy through related 
corporate goals and measures; and 

• Maintaining a network of corporate development market contacts to ensure 
early awareness of significant market events. 

Customer Attraction and Retention 

The risk of failing to deliver on our 
customers’ expectations in the services, 
support and product development 
offered. 

• Continued innovation in functionality to drive benefits for our customers; 

• Continuing to build strong and effective relationships with our customers 
and partners; 

• On-premise customers: providing quarterly releases for all our products 
along with minor patch versions; 

• Providing fortnightly releases for our managed environments; 

• Providing a training program for customers and partners to ensure they can 
obtain the best results from Nuix’s products and services; 

• Evolving the mechanisms our customers can use to engage with us 
throughout the life cycle of our engagement; 

• Using objective data to pair with anecdotal customer feedback to improve 
the customer experience; 
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Risk Description Mitigation, Monitoring and Investment strategy 

Customer Attraction & Retention 

(continued) 

• For customers in certain high-risk jurisdictions, Nuix engages in a 
heightened review and approvals process.  This is done when Nuix is 
presented with a sales opportunity (direct or indirect) with an end-user in 
countries that may pose a high risk to Nuix for international sanctions, 
human rights abuse, IP theft and other corporate social responsibility 
concerns.  Nuix limits the type and terms of the software provided to high-
risk countries; and 

• For all customers, Nuix requires representations to the effect that the 
customer is legally entitled to enter into the agreement in question, and is 
not breaching any laws applicable to their entity or business by doing so.  

Data Privacy and Protection 

Failure to adequately safeguard Nuix or 
customer data resulting in a breach of 
privileged, confidential or proprietary 
information. 

• Layered approach to protecting customer data that includes least privileged 
access and extensive monitoring and auditing of Nuix’s SaaS platform; 

• ISO 27001: 2013 certified and are working towards ISO 27017 and 27018; 

• iRAP (Information Security Registered Assessors Program) assessed to 
host Australian Government data classified as protected; 

• Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) CPS234 Cyber Security 
assessed to host prudential data in progress; 

• USA Federal Risk and Authorization Management Program (FedRAMP) 
readiness in-progress; 

• Twice yearly penetration testing of all SaaS and Corporate IT networks; 

• Regular red team, blue team threat simulation and remediation; 

• Implementing a Microsoft 365 data loss prevention (DLP) capability; 

• Independent review of data privacy framework and controls underway; 

• Appointment of a Data Privacy Officer with recruiting underway; and 

• Monitoring of data privacy laws in relevant jurisdictions. 

Cyber 

The risk of external threats, 
cybersecurity incidents occurring and 
that measures taken to protect our IT 
systems may prove inadequate, 
particularly in the context of our SaaS 
model. 

• Investing in highly skilled cyber security and technical employees who 
focus on identifying and responding to existing and emerging threats; 

• Employee awareness activities to continually promote cyber security 
awareness; 

• Physical and logical separation of environments and duties across Nuix 
SaaS and Corporate IT; 

• Monitoring of critical systems for signs of performance, intrusion, or 
interruption; 

• Digital Forensics Incident Response (DFIR) retainer with reputable third-
party consulting group; 

• Contracted consulting groups as Nuix’s Cyber Security advisories and 
assessors; 

• 24x7 Security Operation Centre (SOC); and 

• Investing in market-leading third party tools to protect and monitor the SaaS 
and Corporate IT environments. 
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Product Development 

Failure to continue to develop our 
products may result in our products not 
remaining competitive or being at the 
forefront of innovation in meeting our 
customers' needs. 

Agile delivery of software changes and 
upgrades may introduce errors or 
defects. These may remain undetected 
and compromise the integrity of our 
products and services, adversely 
impacting our customers. 

• Product roadmap to develop applications or provide software solutions that 
satisfy current and future customer requirements; 

• Investing in highly skilled engineers and product development employees; 

• Proactively monitoring market, industry and competitor intelligence to 
identify strategic opportunities; 

• Change management controls for the review and release of code; and 

• Continued investment in tools to verify the integrity and known 
vulnerabilities of code prior to release. 

Compliance with laws, regulations 
and certifications 

There is a risk that we do not comply 
with the broad range of international 
laws, regulations, and certification 
obligations which require continual 
evaluation to ensure compliance. We 
seek to uplift our control practices in 
support of certifications such as 
FedRAMP. 

• Policies, supported by staff training, on key legal and regulatory obligations 
and expected practices; 

• Dedicated legal function involved in onboarding of all new customers, 
partners, transactions and contracts assesses against legal and 
compliance obligations; 

• Dedicated team supporting responses to customer questionnaires and 
continual auditing against certification control standards; 

• Annual Independent certification audits to validate efficacy of processes 
and controls; 

• Engaging with external corporate law firms on issues requiring subject 
matter expertise as required, or otherwise to provide resourcing and 
compliance support in order to provide legal advice and assistance;   

• Regular Board of Director meetings to ensure compliance with ASX 
obligations; and 

• Extensive policy framework to ensure compliance with ASX obligations. 

Legal 

The risk that we do not have valid, 
executed contracts in place, or that we 
inadvertently breach a contract as we do 
not understand and track commitments, 
bespoke arrangements and indemnities 
provided to customers. 

• Standardising contractual Terms and Conditions; 

• Implementation of a Contract Management System continues; 

• Contractual safeguards (e.g. NDAs) are required prior to any proprietary 
disclosures; 

• Engaging with external counsel to develop an IP strategy to ensure the 
maximum and most efficient mechanisms for legal protection are, and 
continue to be, pursued with respect to Nuix’s IP rights; 

• Nuix standard terms limit liability; and 

• Implementing a benchmark of our standard contract terms and negotiating 
positions and corresponding insurance coverage / potential areas of 
exposure to assess our coverage against industry standards. 

Taxation 

The risk that we are not meeting our tax 
obligations globally. 

• Engaging with local professional services firms for tax compliance advice; 

• Review of returns by International Tax Counsel; 

• Consultation with a professional services firm on the formulation of a Tax 
Risk Management Framework; 
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Financial and Treasury 

The risk that our financial statements are 
incorrect, inaccurate, untimely, or not 
well understood by the market. This 
includes the risk that our current 
procedures for revenue recognition are 
not appropriate due to the level of 
complexity and judgement required. 
This may lead to poor quality information 
for strategic decision making. 

• Undertaking end-to-end process reviews for financial reporting processes 
and controls; 

• Early engagement and consultation with external auditors / professional 
firms on significant deals and key accounting policies; 

• Given the balanced, global nature of operations and foreign-exchange 
flows, this helps us manage our foreign exchange risks on a net basis; and  

• Refer to Section 7.1 on how Nuix manages its financial risks (foreign 
exchange, credit and liquidity risks). 

Technology Platform Maintenance 
and Support 

The risk that our systems are not fit for 
purpose or unavailable. Impact to Nuix 
of critical service outages due to staff not 
following process and making 
unauthorised changes to production 
environments. 

• Using a third-party vendor for the incident, customer support and change 
management; and 

• Nuix SaaS has been architected for high-availability and resilience utilising 
third-party high-availability infrastructure and S3 for backup. 

Business Resilience 

The risk that we are not resilient to global 
economic, pandemic or other incidents 
and do not have the appropriate 
processes and procedures in place to 
effectively maintain our current 
operational capacity, including timely 
notification to customers of disruptions. 

• Monitoring of critical systems for signs of performance, intrusion or 
interruption; 

• Proactive communication to engage customers groups through Nuix’s IT 
Service Management platform and SaaS Status Page; and 

• Business continuity planning continues to be enhanced. 

 

Third Parties 

The risk of not selecting, maintaining 
and managing strong relationships with 
appropriate sales partners and third-
party software which Nuix relies. 

• Due diligence undertaken which for partners, comprises both an internal 
and external third-party risk questionnaire, for which responses and a 
business case are required from both the internal stakeholder and 
proposed partner.  These responses are assessed by the Legal Team prior 
to the engagement or negotiation of such relationship;  

• Due diligence undertaken which for third-party software, Nuix engages in 
a collaborative process using internal stakeholders and external advisers 
to ascertain the reliability and reputation of the proposed third-party 
arrangements.  Assessments of multiple providers are conducted prior to 
final selection;   

• Screening new leads, contacts and opportunities against the US 
Consolidated Screening List and other international economic sanctions 
and export screening lists which contributes to increasing our 
understanding of the manner in which our software is used; 

• Assessment against Modern Slavery Act requirements; and 

• A dedicated Partner management team and framework includes a partner 
portal, training, quarterly business reviews and a Partner Advisory Council. 
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Risk Description Mitigation, Monitoring and Investment strategy 

Governance 

The risk that we fail to put in place or 
apply good governance over our 
processes to support effective 
management decision making. Also, 
that we fall short of market expectations 
around Environmental, Social and 
Corporate Governance (ESG) practices 
and behaviours. 

• A number of policies are in place that support the overall governance of the 
company; 

• Strategic, operational and emerging risks and mitigations identified and 
managed as part of the Risk Management Framework;  

• Formation of the Nuix Foundation dedicated to enriching communities and 
organisations it services; and. 

• Closely monitoring business performance metrics. 

3. Environmental regulation  

The Group’s operations are not significantly impacted by environmental regulations under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a state or any other territories of Australia or territory in which it operates. 

4. Dividends paid or recommended 

The payment of dividends by the Company is at the complete discretion of the Directors, and the Directors do 
not provide any assurance of the future level of dividends paid by the Company. 

The ability to pay dividends will depend on a number of factors, many of which are beyond the control of the 
Company. In determining whether to declare future dividends, the Directors will have regard to Nuix’s earnings, 
cash flows after development costs, overall financial condition and capital requirements, taxation considerations 
(including the level of franking credits available), the general business environment, and any other factors that 
the Directors may consider to be relevant. 

There were no dividends paid or declared since the start of the financial year and up to the date of this report.  

5. Events since the end of the financial year  

As previously disclosed to the market (most recently on 2 September 2021), ASIC is conducting an investigation 
in relation to potential contraventions of the Corporations Act concerning Nuix.  Nuix understands that ASIC’s 
investigations relevantly concern: 1) the financial statements of Nuix Limited for the period ending 30 June 2018, 
30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020; 2) Nuix’s prospectus dated 18 November 2020; and 3) Nuix’s market disclosure 
in the period between the period 4 December 2020 to 31 May 2021. Nuix remains confident that it has complied 
with its accounting and disclosure obligations. Nuix has not received any indication of what (if any) action ASIC 
may take following the conclusion of any investigation. 

As noted in Section 2.4 of this report, for the abundance of caution Nuix has obtained waivers from CBA of 
potential technical or administrative breaches of the CBA Facility Agreement (which was initially entered into in 
2014), including a waiver until 20 November 2021, of any breaches which may have arisen as a result of the 
ASIC investigation. This waiver was entered into post the end of the financial year. The Company had fully paid all 
of these facilities as of 30 June 2021 and has not drawn down any additional funding since 30 June 2021. Nuix 
Limited continues to review its various financing options and requirements, which may include restructuring or 
refinancing its existing facilities, entering into new financing arrangements with a third party and/or cancelling 
facilities entirely. 

On 13 September 2021, the Group announced that it has entered into an agreement to acquire all the shares in 
Topos Labs, Inc. (Topos) a developer of Natural Language Processing (NLP) software that helps computer 
systems better understand text and spoken words at speed and scale. The initial cost of the acquisition is USD 
$5 million on financial close, with the potential for a further USD $20 million comprised of USD $18.5m cash 
payable to the sellers of the shares in Topos, and up to USD $1.5 million in performance rights payable over 30 
months.  
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The performance rights are granted to certain Topos team members who join Nuix and continue to provide 
services to Nuix during the period between closing and at the time of conversion of the performance rights. The 
additional cash consideration is only payable, and the performance rights will only convert into ordinary shares, 
on achievement of revenue, staff retention and product development milestones, each of which relate directly to 
the further development of the Artificial Intelligence driven NLP platform and its successful integration into the 
Nuix environment.  

6. Information on directors 

The details of the Company’s Directors in office at the date of this report are set out below. 

Jeffrey Bleich 
Jeffrey has been a Non‑Executive Director of Nuix since 2017 and was appointed as Chairman of the Company 
in November 2020. Jeffrey lives in Piedmont, California, U.S.A. 

Jeffrey has over 30 years’ experience in the legal, government, and technology sectors, and most recently served 
as a Court‑Appointed Special Master and Mediator in the United States District Court, before being named the 
Chief Legal Officer of Cruise LLC, a San Francisco‑based autonomous vehicle company. After clerking for the 
Chief Justice of the United States Supreme Court, Jeffrey practised law as a Partner at Munger, Tolles & Olson 
LLP from 1992 to 2009 and 2014 to 2016, and as both CEO of Dentons Diplomatic Solutions and a Partner in 
the Public Policy and Regulatory practice of Dentons international law firm from 2016 to 2019. Jeffrey’s practice 
focused on cyber security, technology, complex international disputes, as well as high profile pro bono matters 
before the U.S. Supreme Court. 

Jeffrey served four years as the U.S. Ambassador to Australia from 2009 to 2013 and as special counsel to 
President Obama in 2009. He has served as Board Chair of the San Francisco based Pacific Gas & Electric 
Company, Chair of the Fulbright Foreign Scholarship Board, Chair of the California State University Board of 
Trustees, President of the State Bar of California, and as a Director of a number of charitable and public policy 
organisations including the Australian‑American Leadership Dialogue, RAND Australia, Stanford University’s 
Centre for Advanced Study in the Behavioural Sciences, Amherst College, the American Security Project, and 
Futures Without Violence. 

Jeffrey holds a Bachelor of Political Science from Amherst College, a Master in Public Policy from Harvard 
University and Juris Doctor from the University of California Berkeley. He has also received an honorary 
Doctorate of Laws from San Francisco State University and honorary Doctorates from Griffith University and 
Flinders University. 

Daniel Phillips 
Dan has been a Director of Nuix since 2011 and acted as Chairman between 2018 and November 2020 and is 
currently Chair of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Dan lives in Sydney, Australia. 

Dan has more than 25 years’ experience providing venture capital to high growth companies in Australia, Asia, 
Europe and the United States. Dan is currently an employee of the Macquarie Group, having joined Macquarie 
Group in January 1989 and founded Macquarie Group’s technology venture capital investment business in 1996. 

Dan has served on boards of the ASX listed entities oOh!media Group Ltd and IBA Health. Dan is currently a 
Director of several companies, including NextPayments Pty Ltd, RedEye Apps Pty Ltd, RecordPoint Software 
Holdings Pty Ltd, FoodByUs Pty Ltd and Australian Philanthropic Services. Dan also served as a member of the 
Australian Federal Government’s ICT Advisory Board. 

Dan is a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. 

Rodney Vawdrey 
Rod joined Nuix as Chief Operating Officer in July 2015 and was appointed Chief Executive Officer of Nuix in 
May 2017, and an Executive Director in September 2017. Rod lives in Sydney, Australia. 

Rod oversees Nuix’s business activities globally which encompasses sales, customer support, training and 
technical services, engineering and development, product, marketing, finance, IT partners, corporate 
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development and strategy and human resources – with all Senior Leadership Team members reporting directly 
to Rod. 

Rod was previously Corporate Executive Vice President and President of Fujitsu Limited between 2011 and 
2014, and from 2003 to 2011 was Chief Executive Officer of Fujitsu ANZ. 

Rod is currently a Director of Qualitas Services who provide consulting services. Rod is also a member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Sir Iain Lobban 
Iain has been an adviser to the Board since October 2018 and was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the 
Company in November 2020. Iain lives in the United Kingdom.  

Iain has over 30 years’ experience in the security and intelligence sector, including having served as the Director 
of the British Intelligence Agency GCHQ from 2008 to 2014. Iain was one of the five experts appointed by 
Australia’s Prime Minister to create Australia’s first National Cyber Security Strategy in 2015. He was 
subsequently one of the senior three-person team appointed by the Prime Minister to conduct the 2017 
Independent Review of the Australian Intelligence Community.  

Iain is currently a Director of Prevalent AI, a company specialising in security data science software and solutions, 
of C5 Holdings, an investment company specialising in cyber security, data analytics and cloud, and of Enveil, a 
pioneering Privacy Enhancing Technology company. His advisory work for boards spans cyber security risk 
management and financial crime compliance.  

Iain holds a Bachelor of Arts in French with German from the University of Leeds. Iain is a Visiting Professor of 
King’s College London and an Honorary Fellow of the Judge Business School at the University of Cambridge. 
Iain was appointed a Companion of the Bath in 2006 and Knight Commander of St Michael and St George in 
2013. 

Susan Thomas 
Sue has been a Non-Executive Director of the Company since November 2020, and is Chair of the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee.  
  
Sue has over 30 years’ experience in the financial services and information technology sectors, having founded 
and acted as Managing Director of FlexiPlan Australia Limited, which was subsequently sold to MLC/NAB. Sue 
lives in Perth, Australia.  
  
Sue is currently a Director of ASX listed companies Temple and Webster Group Limited and Fitzroy River 
Corporation Limited, and a former Director of ASX listed Alexium International Group Limited. Sue was formerly 
a Director of BT Funds Board, Property Exchange Australia Limited and Grant Thornton Australia Limited.  
Sue holds a Bachelor of Law and Bachelor of Commerce from the University of New South Wales and has 
received a diploma from the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

7.   Directors’ interests in securities 

At the date of this report, the Directors had the following relevant interests in the securities of the Company: 

Name Ordinary Shares Options 
Jeffrey Bleich 35,000 240,000 
Daniel Phillips Nil Nil 
Rod Vawdrey 1,680,509 169,891 
Sir Iain Lobban Nil 250,000 
Susan Thomas 18,833 Nil 
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8. Meetings of directors 

The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors held during the fiscal year ended 30 June 2021, 
and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were: 

 
FULL BOARD 

REMUNERATION AND 
NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE 

AUDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE 

Held1 Attended Held Attended Held Attended 

Jeffrey Bleich 15 15 2 1   

Iain Lobban 8 7   4 4 

Sue Thomas 8 8 2 2 4 4 

Dan Phillips 15 15 2 2 7 7 

Rod Vawdrey 15 15     

David Standen 8 8     

Roy Grady 8 8     

Mark de Ambrosis 8 8   3 3 

Anthony Castagna 8 7     

9. Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers 

The Directors and Officers of Nuix are indemnified against liabilities pursuant to agreements with the Company. 
The Company insure the Directors and Officers of the company and its Australian-based controlled entities, and 
the general managers of each of the divisions of the Group.  The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be 
incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the Directors and Officers in their 
capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by them in 
connection with such proceedings.  This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a wilful 
breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain 
advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the company. It is not possible to apportion 
the premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities. 

During FY2021, the Company paid a premium under a contract insuring each of certain Directors and Officers of 
the Group against liability incurred in that capacity. Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the 
premium is prohibited by the confidentiality clause of the contract of insurance. 

10. Indemnifying of auditors 

Nuix has agreed to indemnify its auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, to the extent permitted by law, against any 
claim by a third party arising from Nuix’s breach of their agreement. The indemnity stipulates that Nuix will meet 
the full amount of any such liabilities including a reasonable amount of legal costs.  

11. Auditor 

PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327B of the Corporations Act 2001. 

12. Audit and non-audit services 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia) for audit and non-audit 
services during the year are disclosed in Note 9.3. 

 
1 Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year. 
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The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to its statutory audit duties where the 

auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Group are important. 

The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice provided by the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision 

of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 

Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor did not 

compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

• all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality 

and objectivity of the auditor; and 

• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 

110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

13. Rounding of amounts 

Nuix is a company of the kind referred to in Australian Securities Investments Commission’s ASIC Corporations 

(Rounding in Financial / Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. In accordance with that Instrument, all financial 

information presented has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

14. Auditor’s independence declaration  

The Directors have received the Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under section 307C of the 

Corporations Act 2001. The Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out on page 23 and forms part of 

the Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

 

This report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 

 

 

Jeffrey Bleich 

Chairman  

Sydney, Australia 

30 September 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
  
PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY  NSW  2001 
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 
Level 11, 1PSQ, 169 Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW 2150, PO Box 1155 Parramatta NSW 2124 
T: +61 2 9659 2476, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
  

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
As lead auditor for the audit of Nuix Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that to the best 
of my knowledge and belief, there have been:  

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Scott Walsh Sydney 
Partner 30 September 2021 
PricewaterhouseCoopers  
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Letter from Chair of Board Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 
Letter from Chair of Board Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

Dear Shareholders 

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Remuneration Report for Nuix Limited (Nuix or the Group) 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 (FY21), our inaugural Report as a listed Group. 

FY21 – A year in overview 
A landmark year for Nuix 

FY21 was a significant year in Nuix’s history with the Group listing on the Australian Securities Exchange on 4 
December 2020.  This was a remarkable achievement for our Group and our people. 

Resilience in a challenging environment 

As the world continued to evolve, the behaviours of our customers and their preferences evolved.  We have seen 
a larger than expected number of existing customers make the transition from module-based subscription 
licenses to consumption and SaaS model licenses, which has had an impact on both revenue and Annualised 
Contract Value (ACV) profiles.   

While the transition to consumption licenses, including SaaS deployments, has had a near-term negative impact 
on statutory revenue generation, it does not diminish Nuix’s longer-term growth prospects which remain strong, 
with increases in new customers and retention of existing customers. In particular, Nuix has added 100 new 
customers in this financial year and the total order value and average order value from these new customers was 
higher than the prior year. 

As a result, Nuix delivered a revenue result below what was indicated in our IPO prospectus but an EBITDA 
above what was forecast. 

Our people 

At Nuix, we know that our people and our technology are our greatest assets, and the Group is on a journey of 
renewing its key leaders to manage the business on the next phase of its journey.   

The Board was pleased to announce the appointment of Chad Barton during FY21 as the Group’s Interim Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) (while a global search is undertaken for a permanent CFO following the departure of 
Stephen Doyle in late June). Mr Barton is a highly regarded executive with significant experience in managing 
large complex finance operations across a range of industries.  

As previously disclosed, Nuix’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Executive Director Rod Vawdrey gave notice 
in June 2021 of his decision to retire from the Group. Rod will continue in his role while an international search 
is conducted for a new CEO to lead Nuix on the next phase of its journey.  

For all of FY21, the majority of our staff have worked from home and we have maintained our strong focus on 
the wellbeing of our people. We are proud of the ways in which our staff have remained connected and continued 
to collaborate to deliver on behalf of Nuix, and the resilience, ingenuity and responsiveness of our staff, is a 
testament to the quality of our team.  Despite the challenges presented by the pandemic, we have managed to 
continue to sign new customers, maintain a high level of delivery and support to all of our customers, and continue 
to evolve our product. 

Executive remuneration at Nuix 
An overview of our post-listing framework for our Executive Key Management Personnel (KMP) is outlined in 
section 3. There have been no changes made to the executive remuneration framework that was put in place as 
part of the IPO in December 2020. 
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At Nuix, our remuneration framework is designed to ensure that our Executives maintain a deliberate and 

continued focus on delivering strong financial performance and creating value for our shareholders, as well as 

encouraging long-term sustainable decision-making in the interests of all of our shareholders, customers and 

other key stakeholders  

In particular, the remuneration packages are heavily weighted to the performance-tested long-term incentive 

(LTI) (representing almost half of Executive KMP’s target pay mix). The LTI is also delivered in options, which 

have an “in-built” share price condition in the form of an exercise price. That is, the Nuix LTI awards will only 

deliver value to Executive KMP where the share price increases, as the market price at the time of exercise will 

need to exceed the exercise price (in addition to performance hurdles being met).   

Linking FY21 remuneration outcomes to performance 

At Nuix, we are focused on ensuring our remuneration arrangements and outcomes for our Executive KMP are 

closely aligned with our performance and the experience of our shareholders, and also meet the expectations of 

our stakeholders.  

While our FY21 performance outcomes were solid and our Executive KMP worked hard to deliver the listing of 

Nuix, we do acknowledge the experience of our shareholders and that we did not achieve our forecast revenue. 

This has been reflected in executive remuneration outcomes for FY21.  

Although STI and LTIs were paid to the CEO and former CFO for the period up until the listing of Nuix, for the 

period following the listing of Nuix: 

• the Board exercised its discretion to reduce STI awards to nil for the CEO and the outgoing CFO, despite 

partial vesting against the EBITDA component (30%). There was no vesting against the revenue component 

(70%); and 

• there were no LTI awards eligible to be tested and vest this year. 

Refer section 4 for further detail on remuneration outcomes for FY21.  

Conclusion 

The Board will continue to monitor Nuix’s executive remuneration framework to ensure that it provides the right 

balance between attracting, motivating and retaining our executives to deliver on our strategy for our 

shareholders and our customers, while meeting the expectations of the Group’s external stakeholders.    

I invite you to read Nuix’s Remuneration Report and welcome your feedback on our remuneration practices and 

disclosures.  

 

 

Daniel Phillips 

Chair of Remuneration and Nominations Committee 



Nuix Limited and Controlled Entities  
Remuneration Report 

REMUNERATION REPORT 28 

Remuneration Report 
1. Who is covered by this report? 

This Report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for KMP of the Group in FY21, which comprise all 
Non-Executive Directors and senior executives who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Group. The FY21 KMP are set out in the table below. 

As noted above, Nuix’s CEO and Executive Director Rod Vawdrey gave notice of his decision to retire from the 
Group on 15 June 2021 and will continue in his role while an international search is conducted for a new CEO.  

Mr. Doyle ceased as Executive KMP on 21 June 2021 and Chad Barton was appointed as Interim CFO (effective 
from that date). While Mr. Doyle retained no operational duties, he was available to assist with the orderly 
handover of his responsibilities before concluding his employment with the Group on 30 June 2021. Further detail 
in respect of the treatment of Mr. Doyle’s incentive arrangement is outlined in Section 4.6 below. 

Table 1: Overview of FY21 KMP 

KMP CURRENT POSITION TERM AS KMP 

Executive KMP 

Rod Vawdrey  Group CEO and Executive Director Full year (i.e. from 1 July 2020) 

Stephen Doyle Former CFO Ceased as KMP on 21 June 2021 

Chad Barton Interim CFO Effective on 21 June 2021 

Jonathan Rees Executive Vice President, International Effective on 15 June 2021 

Ethan Treese Executive Vice President, Americas Effective on 15 June 2021 

Non-Executive Directors 

Jeffrey Bleich Independent Chairman Full year (i.e. from 1 July 2020)1 

Sir Iain Lobban Independent Non-executive Director Partial year from 18 November 2020  

Daniel Phillips Non-executive Director Full year (i.e. from 1 July 2020) 

Sue Thomas Independent Non-executive Director Partial year from 18 November 2020  

Anthony Castagna  Former Non-executive Director Ceased as KMP on 18 November 2020 

Roy Grady  Former Independent Non-executive Director Ceased as KMP on 18 November 2020 

David Standen  Former Non-executive Director Ceased as KMP on 18 November 2020 

Mark De Ambrosis Former Non-executive Director Ceased as KMP on 18 November 2020 

  

 
1 Mr Bleich was an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company from 1 July 2020 and was appointed as Chairman of the Board on 
19 November 2020. 
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2. Our value proposition 

At Nuix, we strive to foster a customer-collaborative and innovative culture, and a talented team of employees 
who are motivated to build software with a purpose and assist our customers to contribute to a wider public and 
social good.  

We recognise that remuneration is only one of a number of reasons why our people come to work for us every 
day and our broader value proposition (beyond remuneration) is key to our ability to attract, retain and motivate 
world class talent to deliver on our vision of “finding truth in a digital world.” 

We value our people and seek to provide a supportive and inclusive workplace that delivers high employee 
engagement and satisfaction, and encourages everyone to be the best they can be. We have a high-performing 
culture (which is founded on trust) to support our future aspirations.  

It is our fundamental belief that the behaviour and performance of all employees should be aligned with our 
values (see section 3 below) and expectations to drive business performance and meet the expectations of our 
stakeholders and the community. 

 

Diagram 1. Our value proposition 
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3. FY21 – Executive KMP remuneration at a glance 

At Nuix our executive remuneration framework is set in line with our key remuneration principles which are 
designed to encourage behaviour aligned with our core values and support our strategic priorities in the interests 
of our shareholders. 
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• The pay mix for the CEO and former CFO at target and maximum is outlined below. The pay mix is heavily weighted 

towards the LTI to encourage a focus on long term sustainable decision making in the interests of Nuix’s 
shareholders and other stakeholders.  

 

• The Group’s Interim CFO was not eligible for an STI or LTI for FY21 due to the interim nature of his employment 
contract.   

• The Executive Vice President, International and Executive Vice President, Americas were determined to be KMP 
towards the end of the financial year on 15 June 2021 and their remuneration arrangements are consistent with 
other senior non-KMP staff, split between fixed annual remuneration, STI and LTI. 

 

Our remuneration framework aligns with our values and strategy 
OUR 
FRAMEWORK 

TOTAL FIXED 
REMUNERATION (TFR) 

• Base salary and 
superannuation (or other 
equivalent pension 
arrangements) 

• TFR is reviewed annually 
having regard to the 
individual’s role, 
responsibilities, skills, 
experience and performance, 
as well as fixed remuneration 
levels offered to comparable 
roles within companies with 
which the Company competes 
for talent 

SHORT TERM INCENTIVE (STI)1 

• Performance period of 1 year 

• Assessed against revenue (70%) 
and EBITDA (30%), being the key 
metrics used by the market to 
assess the Company’s 
performance post IPO   

• Delivered in cash (2/3) and share 
rights (1/3) deferred for 12 
months. STI deferral, in the form 
of share rights, creates further 
alignment with shareholder 
interests and acts as a retention 
instrument  

• As part of its overarching 
discretion, the Board has the 
ability to make downward 
adjustments for any behaviour 
that is inconsistent with the 
Company’s culture and values 
(as well as any risk, regulatory or 
reputational issues).  

• STI provides motivation for the 
achievement of annual 
performance goals 

1The Executive Vice President, International and 
Executive Vice President, Americas are assessed 
against their respective portfolios and not Company 
wide and their STI is delivered in cash  

LONG TERM INCENTIVE (LTI) 

• Delivered in options 

• Performance tested against 
revenue (50%) and EBITDA 
(50%) after 3 years.  The 
FY21 LTI is tested at the end 
of 30 June 2023 given the 
IPO occurred part way 
through FY21 

• Options become 
progressively exercisable (at 
the end of the 3 year 
performance period) in thirds 
(being at vesting and after a 
further 1 and 2 years) 

• LTI drives the delivery of 
Nuix’s longer term objectives 
in a sustainable manner 

• Options have an in-built 
incentive to increase the 
share price, better aligning 
the executives to the 
shareholder experience and 
encouraging long-term value 
creation 

Pay mix for performance KMP pay mix 
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4. FY21 Executive Remuneration Outcomes – In Detail 

4.1 Overview of Group performance 
As noted above, it is important to Nuix that the remuneration outcomes for our Executive KMP align with the 
Group’s performance. An overview of Nuix’s FY21 performance is set out in table 2 below. 

Statutory revenue rose to $176,068,000 up 0.1% on a functional currency basis, and 7.4% on a constant currency 
basis. New business contributed $27,638,000 to revenue, with subscription-based revenue rising to 93% of the 
total revenue. 

Nuix contracted 100 (2020: 103) new customers over the course of the year. Average new order value rose to 
$240,000 (2020: $145,000), driven by higher value wins through a focus on enterprise sales. Customers 
displayed a continued willingness to enter into multi-year deals, with these contracts rising to 36.3% (2020: 
25.4%) of revenue for the full year. 

In North America, corporate and law firms were areas of strength, with 27 new customers signed. Our US 
Government (USG) team secured several significant contract wins with governmental agencies in the latter part 
of the year, building momentum into FY22. 

Our EMEA business achieved important new customers wins during the year, with demand from Corporates 
particularly strong. In Germany we signed 27 new SaaS customers in the first year, and employees have been 
onboarded for our Southern European expansion.  

Growth in Asia Pacific was driven by key logo wins across a range of industries and included a break-through 
corporate deal in Japan. In Australia, Discover SaaS data under management tripled. 

As flagged during the second half, trading conditions affected upsell opportunities, particularly in the United 
States. In addition, the trend towards consumption-based licences impacted the timing of revenue recognition. 
Although this transition weighs on customer upsell in the short term, the shift to consumption licences, including 
SaaS, allows Nuix to benefit more fully from growth in data volumes over time. 

Annualised Contract Value (ACV) at 30 June 2021 was $165,590,000, down 1.7% compared to 30 June 2020.  
Subscription ACV grew year on year as a result of new business won and the transition from perpetual to 
consumption licenses.   “Other ACV”, comprised of both short-term (less than 12 months) and perpetual licenses, 
and services ACV fell on the year. Churn was lower than the previous year.  

On a regional basis USA ACV fell year on year, more than offsetting the increase in ACV from EMEA and APAC. 

Table 2. FY21 Group performance 

A$m (unless otherwise stated) FY21 

Annualised contract value (ACV) 165.6 

Revenue 176.1 

EBITDA 30.5 

Net profit/ (loss) after tax (NPAT) (1.4) 

4.2 Total fixed remuneration (TFR) 
Table 3 below sets out the annualised TFR payable to the Executive KMP in FY21 based on their contractual 
values. Executive KMP TFR levels were set as part of the IPO process having regard to benchmarking data in 
respect of companies of a comparable size to Nuix’s expected market capitalisation (as well as peers in the 
technology sector).  
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Table 3. Executive KMP fixed remuneration levels 

Executive KMP Total fixed remuneration (annualised) $ 

Rod Vawdrey 721,694 

Stephen Doyle (former CFO) 455,000 

Chad Barton1 801,694 

Jonathan Rees 478,400 

Ethan Treese 438,900 

4.3 FY21 short term incentive outcomes 

A. Overview 

As noted above, Executive KMP participate in an STI program. The maximum STI awards that Executive KMP 
were eligible to receive in respect of FY21 are set out in Table 4 below. The Interim CFO was not eligible for an 
STI award in FY21 due to the interim nature of the employment contract.  The Executive Vice President, 
International and Executive Vice President, Americas were not KMP for the full year, and their STI was calculated 
under the staff remuneration policy, with the portion related to service during the time they were KMP during 
FY21 presented in the table below. 

As outlined in Table 4 below, for the period from 4 December 2020 to 30 June 2021, post Nuix’s listing, the Board 
exercised its discretion to reduce STI outcomes to nil for the CEO and outgoing CFO for FY21, despite partial 
vesting against the EBITDA component being achieved. Revenue threshold levels of performance were not met. 

Table 4. Executive KMP STI outcomes 

STI OUTCOMES (FY21) 

Executive KMP 
Maximum 

STI 
opportunity 

($) 

Maximum 
STI 

opportunity 
(% TFR) 

Value of STI 
awarded 

% of FY21 
STI awarded 

% of FY21 
STI award 

forfeited 

Rod Vawdrey 541,271 75% 156,0892 29% 71% 

Stephen Doyle (former CFO) 341,250 75% 74,7002 22% 78% 

Chad Barton N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Jonathan Rees3 12,855 65% 13,797 107% 0% 

Ethan Treese3 12,024 67% 9,836 82% 18% 

  

 
1 The fixed annual remuneration for the Interim CFO reflects that the Interim CFO is not eligible for STI or LTI due to the fixed term nature of 
the employment arrangement and includes superannuation 
2 These payments related to the period from 1 July 2020 to 3 December 2020, prior to the listing of Nuix.  
3 The award represents the period that the Executive Vice President, International and Executive Vice President, Americas were KMP. The 
Executive Vice President, International and the Executive Vice President, Americas were determined to have become KMPs from 15 June 
2021, and their remuneration packages have not been changed as a result of this assessment. For these individuals, rather than Maximum 
STI, the above table represents On Target Earnings (OTE). 
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B. FY21 STI – assessment of performance measures 

An overview of performance against the FY21 STI measures is set out below. 

 Table 5. Performance against FY21 STI performance measures 

C. FY21 STI terms - further detail 

Key terms and conditions applying to the STI arrangements for the Executive KMP during FY21 is set out below.  

Table 6. Description of key terms of FY21 Executive KMP STI 

SHORT TERM INCENTIVE – KEY TERMS11 

Term Further detail – CEO and former CFO 
Further detail – Executive Vice President, 

International and Executive Vice President, 
Americas 

Performance 
period 

STI awards are assessed over the 12-month financial year. Any STI award payments are made after performance 
is tested at the end of the performance period. 

Instrument 

Once the total dollar value of the STI earned by a KMP is 
determined, 2/3 will be awarded in cash, the remaining 
1/3 will be delivered in share rights to support alignment 
between Executive KMP and Nuix’s shareholders. Each 
share right will vest into one share after 12 months. 
The number of share rights granted will be calculated by 
dividing the dollar value attributable to those share rights 
by the closing Share price on the trading day immediately 
before the date of the grant.  

Once the total dollar value of the STI earned by a 
KMP is determined, the STI will be awarded in cash 
as their STI was calculated and awarded under the 
staff remuneration policy. 

Performance 
Measures 
 

The STI is assessed against two performance measures 
being: 

• Group-wide revenue (70% weighting) 

• Group-wide EBITDA (30% weighting). 

It is considered that these two metrics reflect the key 
financial drivers of value in the business.  As part of its 
overarching discretion, the Board also retains discretion 
to adjust STI outcomes for behaviour that is inconsistent 
with the Group’s values and culture (as well as any risk, 
regulatory or reputational issues). 
 

The STI is assessed against two performance 
measures being: 

• Relevant region revenue (70% weighting) 

• Relevant region contribution margin (30% 
weighting). 

It is considered that these two metrics reflect the 
key financial drivers of value in the business.  As 
part of its overarching discretion, the Board also 
retains discretion to adjust STI outcomes for 
behaviour that is inconsistent with the Group’s 
values and culture (as well as any risk, regulatory 
or reputational issues). 
 

Treatment on 
cessation of 
employment  

Where an Executive KMP ceases employment prior to the end of the performance period, the default position is 
that the executive would not be eligible for an STI award for that financial year (unless the Board determines 
otherwise). 

Change of control  
Where there is a change of control event (for example, a takeover bid, scheme of arrangement, merger or any 
other transaction or event that in the Board’s opinion is a change of control event), the Board has discretion in 
respect of the treatment of the STI (subject to the ASX Listing Rules). 

   

 

 
1 The Interim CFO was not eligible for an STI award in FY21 due to the interim nature of the employment contract. 

STI PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
Measure Weighting Outcomes Explanation 

Revenue 70%  Nuix achieved 91% of revenue target in FY21. 

EBITDA 30%  Nuix achieved 105% of EBITDA target in FY21. 

Key 
Below threshold Between threshold and target Above target 
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4.4 FY21 long term incentive awards – granted  

A. Overview 

As noted above, Executive KMP are eligible to participate in the LTI program. Table 7 below outlines the notional 
value of LTI awards granted to Executive KMP during FY21. These LTI awards were outlined in the prospectus 
and granted as part of the IPO process. The number of options granted was calculated by reference to the Issue 
Price for the IPO of $5.31. The maximum LTI opportunity levels as a percentage of TFR reflect the heavy 
weighting of Executive KMP packages towards the LTI. The Interim CFO was not eligible for an LTI award in 
FY21 due to the fixed term nature of the employment arrangement. 

Table 7. FY21 LTI awards to Executive KMP 

Executive KMP Maximum LTI 
opportunity ($) 

Maximum LTI 
opportunity (% of TFR) 

Rodney Vawdrey  902,118 125% 
Stephen Doyle (former CFO) 568,750 125% 
Chad Barton N/A N/A 
Jonathan Rees1 234,490 N/A 
Ethan Treese1  229,169 N/A 

 
B. FY21 LTI key terms – further detail  

Table 8 below outlines the key terms attaching to the LTI awards granted to Executive KMP during FY21. 

Table 8. Key terms of FY21 LTI awards granted to Executive KMP 

LONG TERM INCENTIVE – KEY TERMS 

 Further detail 

Entitlement 
Subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions and payment of the exercise price, each LTI 
option entitles the holder to one fully paid ordinary share in Nuix Limited (or a cash equivalent payment 
at the discretion of the Board).  

Allocation 
methodology 

The number of LTI options to be granted is calculated by dividing the participant’s dollar value LTI 
opportunity for FY21 (as outlined in table 7 above) by the market value of the underlying share.   

The exercise price is not taken into account in determining the number of Options granted (e.g. the 
number of Options is not increased to recognise that the Participant is required to pay an exercise 
price to exercise the Options).  For example, the CEO received 169,891 Options which were calculated 
as the LTI opportunity of $902,118 divided by the IPO offer price of $5.31. The participant is required 
to pay an exercise price of $5.31 to exercise any Option. 

Exercise price The exercise price in respect of the FY21 LTI options is equal to the IPO offer price as per Nuix’s 
prospectus, being $5.31 per option.  

Expiry date The FY21 LTI options will expire on 7 years from grant date, unless they have otherwise lapsed before 
that date (e.g. if performance conditions are not met). 

 
1 The Executive Vice President, International and the Executive Vice President, Americas were determined to have become KMPs from 15 
June 2021, and their remuneration packages have not been changed as a result of this assessment. Rather than Maximum LTI, for these 
individuals the table represents a fixed amount. 
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Performance 
conditions and 
vesting 
schedule 

The FY21 LTI options are subject to performance testing against the following performance conditions: 

• revenue (50%); and 

• EBITDA (50%). 

The revenue and EBITDA targets are assessed at the end of FY23. If the targets are met, one-third 
of the vested LTI Options will be available to be exercised upon the release of the Company’s financial 
results for each of FY23, FY24 and FY25.  

The vesting schedule in respect of the revenue and EBITDA measures is outlined below. Specific 
targets will not be disclosed until the end of FY23 due to commercial sensitivity. 

 Level of vesting Revenue EBITDA 

Threshold 66.6% To be disclosed at the 
end of FY23 

To be disclosed at the 
end of FY23 

Maximum 100% To be disclosed at the 
end of FY23 

To be disclosed at the 
end of FY23 

 

Treatment on 
cessation of 
employment 

Where an Executive KMP ceases employment prior to the expiry date noted above: 

• for cause or resignation, the default position is that any unvested or vested and unexercised 
LTI options will lapse (unless the Board determines otherwise); and 

• in all other circumstances, the LTI options will remain on foot (unless the Board exercises its 
discretion to treat them as lapsed). 

Any vested options that are retained upon cessation of employment will need to be exercised by the 
Executive KMP within 90 days of cessation of employment or such longer period as the Board may 
determine. 

Refer section 4.6 for further detail regarding the treatment of the former CFO’s LTI options.   

Forfeiture and 
clawback 

Under the post-IPO framework, forfeiture and claw-back provisions apply to the LTI options in a range 
of circumstances including (but not limited to) where (1) a participant has acted fraudulently or 
dishonestly, or breached his duties or obligations to the Group; (2) has done an act which brings the 
Group into disrepute; or (3) there has been a material misstatement or omission in the Group’s 
financial statements or a circumstances which will require the financial statements of the Group to be 
restated.  

Change of 
control  

Where there is a change of control event (for example, a takeover bid, scheme of arrangement, merger 
or any other transaction or event that in the Board’s opinion is a change of control event), the Board 
has discretion in respect of the treatment of the awards (subject to the ASX Listing Rules).  

4.5 Legacy option awards 
The CEO and former CFO both had additional options on foot prior to IPO. These Options were granted and 
vested while the Group was unlisted and were fully disclosed in the Prospectus. The Options were cancelled and 
a cash payment made to the CEO and former CFO in respect of the cancellation at the time of IPO.  

The CEO and former CFO chose to invest a significant portion of the post-tax value of this cash payment into 
Nuix shares (i.e. $8,392,503 and $4,430,505 respectively). The resulting Nuix shares were subject to an escrow 
arrangement under which the Executive KMP were restricted from dealing with those Nuix shares until the release 
of the Group’s FY21 financial results to the ASX. 

Further detail in respect of those legacy awards and the terms of the cancelled options, are outlined in section 
6.4.2.7 and 6.4.6 of Nuix’s prospectus.  

The Executive Vice President, International and Executive Vice President, Americas also both had additional 
options on foot prior to IPO. The Board resolved to accelerate vesting for half of the remaining unvested portion 
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of options historically granted to ExCo members, and cancel all vested options at the time of the IPO. This 
acceleration of vesting and cancellation for half of the vested options held by ExCo members, included options 
held by both the Executive Vice President, International and Executive Vice President, Americas. These 
transactions occurred prior to these individuals being determined to be KMPs.  

Table 9. Key terms of historical awards granted to ExCo members including Executive Vice President, 
International and Executive Vice President, Americas. 

TERM DESCRIPTION 
Exercise Price The exercise price is between $2.00 - $3.00 per option 

Rights Each option entitles the holder to one Share on exercise of the option. 

Vesting 

Options remained unvested on Completion of the IPO.  
 
The options vest proportionately on a monthly linear basis over 60 months from the 
date of the grant. 
 
Only vested options are exercisable. 

Expiry 

An option will lapse on the earlier of: 

• the expiry date of the original option, which may be between 28 August 2024 to 
10 September 2028 

• 90 days (or such longer period determined by the Board) from the date of written 
notice of an “insolvency Event”, which includes pursuant to an application made 
to the Court, the Court orders a meeting to be held in relation to a proposed 
compromise or arrangement for the purpose of or in connection with, a scheme 
for the reconstruction of the Company of its amalgamation with any other 
company, or a voluntary or compulsory winding-up; 

• the date the optionholder is terminated for committing any act of fraud, defalcation 
or gross misconduct in relation to the affairs of Nuix or any related body corporate 
of Nuix (whether or not charged with an offense) or doing any act which in the 
reasonable opinion of the Board brings Nuix or any related body corporate of Nuix 
into disrepute; 

• depending on the optionholder, 180 days following the date that the optionholder’s 
employment ceases for death or, in the Board’s opinion a permanent disablement 
preventing them from continuing as an employee of Nuix; and  

• depending on the optionholder, either on the date the optionholder ceases to be 
employed by Nuix or 30 days following the date that the optionholder ceases to 
be employed by Nuix for any reason other than as a result of death or, in the 
Board’s opinion, a permanent disablement preventing them from continuing as an 
employee of Nuix.  

Change in circumstances 

• Capital reorganisations: For certain optionholders, options are not entitled to 
participate in any new issue of shares a s a result of a capital reorgniasation of 
Nuix unless they are exercised prior to the record date of any capital 
reorganisation. The terms of the options shall be proportionately reorganised in 
accordance with the relevant reorganisation plan.   

 

• Bonus issues: If Nuix makes a bonus issue of shares (including on a pro rata 
basis) to existing shareholders for no consideration, then the number of shares 
over which an option is exercisable shall be increased by the number of shares 
which the optionholder would have received inf the optionholder had exercised the 
option prior to the record date for the bonus issue.  
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4.6 Treatment of equity arrangements for former CFO 
As outlined in section 1, former CFO Stephen Doyle ceased as KMP on 21 June 2021 and concluded his 
employment with the Group on 30 June 2021.  

Table 10. Treatment of various incentives for former CFO 

INCENTIVE / ENTITLEMENT FURTHER DETAIL 

Notice period 
Mr Doyle worked out a portion of his 6-month notice period from 21 June to 30 June 
2021. He received a payment in lieu of the remainder of this notice period which was 
paid in July 2021.  

Short term incentive (section 4.3) 
Mr Doyle was awarded an STI payment for the period from 1 July 2020 to the date of 
listing under his previous employment contract. No STI was awarded to Mr Doyle post 
the listing of Nuix for the remainder of FY21. 

FY21 LTI award (section 4.4) 

The Board determined that 50% of Mr Doyle’s FY21 LTI award (i.e. 53,555 options) 
would be cancelled. The remaining 50% of Mr Doyle’s FY21 LTI award (i.e. 53,555 
options) will remain on foot to be tested against the original revenue and EDITDA 
performance conditions and vest (as applicable) at the end of the original 3-year 
performance period. The treatment of any options that remain on foot (to the extent 
performance hurdles are met) will remain subject to the forfeiture and clawback 
provisions of the LTI plan rules in various circumstances including fraud or dishonesty. 

 
  

Change in structure or control 

In the event of a Corporate Transactions (defined below), the Board may take one or 
more of the following actions in respect of the options: 

• arrange for the surviving or acquiring corporation to assume or continue the 
option, or substitute the option with a similar award; 

• cancel or arrange for the cancellation of the option, to the extent not vested or not 
exercised prior to the effective time of the Corporate Transaction, which may be 
in exchange for cash consideration (if any) as the Board (in its sole discretion) 
may consider appropriate; 

• make payment to the optionholder (in a form as may be determined by the Board) 
equal to the value of the Share the optionholder would have received upon the 
exercise of the option, over any exercise price payable by the optionholder in 
connection with such exercise.  

The option terms define Corporate Transaction as (relevantly) any of the following: 

• a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all, as determined by the Board in 
its sole discretion, of the consolidated assets of Nuix and its related bodies 
corporate; 

• a sale or other disposition of at least fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding 
securities of Nuix;  

• a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which Nuix is not the 
surviving entity; or 

• a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which Nuix is the surviving 
entity but the Shares outstanding immediately preceding the merger, consolidation 
or similar transaction are converted or exchanged by virtue of the merger, 
consolidation or similar transaction into other property, whether in the form of 
securities, cash or otherwise. 

Other terms 
Options are not transferable and will not be quoted. Other terms include provisions 
relating to amendments to the terms by the Board.  
 
Any changes to option terms are subject to the ASX Listing Rules  
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4.7 Executive KMP remuneration statutory table  
The table below sets out Executive KMP remuneration for FY21 in accordance with the requirements of the 
Accounting Standards and Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). The table reflects the accounting value of remuneration 
attributable to KMP, derived from the various components of their remuneration. 

Table 11. Statutory remuneration table 

 

5. Non- Executive Director Remuneration 

5.1 Overview 
The Board sets the fees for its Non-Executive Directors in line with the key objectives of the Group’s Non-
Executive Director remuneration policy set out below.  

Non-Executive Director remuneration is reviewed annually and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
makes recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors.  

The Group does not make sign-on payments to new Non-Executive Directors nor provide for retirement 
allowances / benefits for Non-Executive Directors (other than superannuation). Executive Directors of the Group 
are not entitled to be paid Non-Executive Directors’ fees.  

 
1 Includes annual leave expenses recognised during FY21. 
2 Acceleration of remaining unamortised fair value of legacy options held by KMPs at the time of IPO that were subject to cancellation and 
required to be recognised through profit and loss in FY21. Fair value of these options determined at original grant dates pre IPO. 
3 Amounts paid to the CEO and former CFO, represent bonuses earned for the period from 1 July 2020 to 3 December 2020 prior to listing. 
4 Rod Vawdrey’s LTI accounting reflects an expectation that the service period will be completed upon his anticipated retirement. 
5 Stephen Doyle’s salary reflects inclusion of $197,083 for a payment in lieu of notice upon mutual termination. 
6 Stephen Doyle’s LTI reflects that the service period for the options that remain on foot was waived by the Board as of 30 June 2021. 
7 Amounts for Jonathan Rees and Ethan Treese reflect the transactions from 15 June 2021 onwards, when they became KMPs. 

 

 Short-term Long-term Share based payments 

 Salary1 
Cash 

bonus 

Non-
monetary 

benefits 
Super-

annuation 

Long 
service 

leave 

Accelerated 
charge 

related to 
cancellation 
of options 2 LTI Total 

Financial 
year $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Rod Vawdrey FY21 733,533 156,0893 - 21,694 34,992 685,161 137,1034 1,768,571 
Stephen Doyle 
(former) FY21 615,0285 74,7003 - 18,750 4,277 195,478 125,2596 1,033,491 

Chad Barton FY21 23,636 - - 2,245 - - - 25,882 

Jonathan Rees7 FY21 21,850 13,757 - - - - 9,480 45,087 

Ethan Treese 7 FY21 20,046 9,836 - - - - 9,436 39,318 

TOTAL  FY21 1,414,093 254,382 - 42,690 39,269 880,639 281,278 2,912,350 
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5.2 Fee pool and schedule 
Non-Executive Directors are paid from an aggregate annual fee pool of $1,100,000, as approved by the Group’s 
shareholders upon its listing in 2020.  

Table 12 below sets out the fees (inclusive of superannuation) payable to the Non-Executive Directors of the 
Group in respect of FY21. 

Daniel Phillips was not paid fees for being a Non-executive Director, or for chairing or being a member of any 
Board Committee, during FY21. Former Non-Executive Directors, Mark De Ambrosis and David Standen, also 
did not receive any Non-Executive Director fees in FY21 (i.e. between 30 June 2021 and 18 November 2021). 

Table 12. NED fees for FY21 

  

 
 

 
 

 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES 

Position Fees for FY21 (Annualised) 

Chairman $240,000 

Directors $120,000 

Committee chairman $20,000 

Committee member $10,000 
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5.3 Legacy options held by Non-Executive Directors 
As outlined in section 6.4.2.7 of Nuix’s Prospectus, Non-Executive Directors Jeffrey Bleich and Sir Iain Lobban 
(via Cyberswift Ltd) each held 625,000 options over Nuix shares prior to completion of the IPO. Upon completion 
of the IPO, 375,000 of those options were cancelled for cash and 250,000 options remained on foot for each of 
them.  

Blackall Limited legally and beneficially held 15,000,000 options over Nuix shares that were cancelled prior to 
the completion of the IPO for cash. Blackall Limited is ultimately owned by Delrick Limited, a company limited by 
guarantee incorporated in Vanuatu which maintained a retirement fund for Nuix Co-Founder Dr. Anthony 
Castagna. Dr. Castagna was a nominated Director by Blackall Limited. In addition, Blackall Limited also holds 
13,345,750 shares that remained subject to escrow as of 30 June 2021. 

The terms of the options remaining on foot for the Non-Executive Director options on Completion are noted below. 
In accordance with best practice and the Group’s Remuneration Policy, these options do not have performance 
conditions attached and are intended as a once-off arrangement. 

Table 13. Key terms of legacy awards granted to Non-Executive Directors 

 TERM DESCRIPTION 

Exercise Price $5.01 per option. All options are exercisable from Completion. 

Rights Each option entitles the holder to one Share on exercise of the option. 

Expiry 

An option will lapse on the earlier of: 

• 5:00pm on 30 September 2023; 

• 90 days (or such longer period determined by the Board) from the date of written 
notice of an “insolvency Event”, which includes pursuant to an application made 
to the Court, the Court orders a meeting to be held in relation to a proposed 
compromise or arrangement for the purpose of or in connection with, a scheme 
for the reconstruction of the Company of its amalgamation with any other 
company, or a voluntary or compulsory winding-up; 

• 180 days following the date that Jeffrey or Iain’s appointment ceases for death, or 
in the Board’s opinion, a permanent disablement preventing them from continuing 
as a Director of Nuix; and 

• the date that Jeffrey or Iain ceases to be appointed as a non-Executive Director, 
other than as a result of death or, in the Board’s opinion, a permanent disablement 
preventing them from continuing as a Director of Nuix. 

Change in circumstances 

• Capital reorganisations: Options are not entitled to participate in any new issue 
of Shares as a result of a capital reorganisation of Nuix unless they are exercised 
prior to the record date for any capital reorganisation. The terms of the options 
shall be proportionately reorganised in accordance with the relevant 
reorganisation plan.  

• Bonus issues: If Nuix makes a bonus issue of Shares pro rata to existing 
shareholders for no consideration, then the number of Shares over which an 
option is exercisable shall be increased by the number of Shares which the 
optionholder would have received if the optionholder had exercised the option 
prior to the record date for the bonus issue.  

Change in structure or control 

In the event of a Corporate Transactions (defined below), the Board may take one or 
more of the following actions in respect of the options: 

• arrange for the surviving or acquiring corporation to assume or continue the 
option, or substitute the option with a similar award; 

• cancel or arrange for the cancellation of the option, to the extent not vested or not 
exercised prior to the effective time of the Corporate Transaction, which may be 
in exchange for cash consideration (if any) as the Board (in its sole discretion) 
may consider appropriate; 
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• make payment to the optionholder (in a form as may be determined by the Board) 
equal to the value of the Share the optionholder would have received upon the 
exercise of the option, over any exercise price payable by the optionholder in 
connection with such exercise.  

The option terms define Corporate Transaction as (relevantly) any of the following: 

• a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all, as determined by the Board in 
its sole discretion, of the consolidated assets of Nuix and its related bodies 
corporate; 

• a sale or other disposition of at least fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding 
securities of Nuix;  

• a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which Nuix is not the 
surviving entity; or 

• a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which Nuix is the surviving 
entity but the Shares outstanding immediately preceding the merger, consolidation 
or similar transaction are converted or exchanged by virtue of the merger, 
consolidation or similar transaction into other property, whether in the form of 
securities, cash or otherwise. 

Other terms 

Options are not transferable and will not be quoted. Other terms include provisions 
relating to amendments to the terms by the Board.  

 

Any changes to option terms are subject to the ASX Listing Rules  
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5.4 Non-Executive Directors – statutory remuneration 
The fees paid or payable to the Non-Executive Directors of the Group in respect of FY21 are set out in the table 
below.  

Table 14. FY21 – NED statutory remuneration table 

Non-executive Director 
remuneration 

Financial 
year 

Short-term 
benefits 

Long term 
benefits 

Share 
based 

payments 
Total 

Salary & 
fees Superannuation Options Total Performance 

related 

$ $ $ $ % 
Jeffrey Bleich FY21 228,556 - 392,787 621,343 - 
Sir Iain Lobban1 FY21 121,820 - 372,652 494,472 - 
Daniel Phillips FY21 - - - - - 
Sue Thomas2 FY21 130,231 7,591 - 137,822 - 
Dr Anthony Castagna 3 

(former) FY21 238,530 10,847 - 249,377 - 

Roy Grady (former) FY21 38,056 3,615 - 41,671 - 
David Standen (former) FY21 - - - - - 
Mark De Ambrosis (former) FY21 - - - - - 
TOTAL FY21 757,193 22,053 765,439 1,544,685 - 

6. Remuneration Governance 

6.1 Responsibility for setting remuneration  
Nuix maintains a robust remuneration governance framework, which aims to ensure that the Group’s 
remuneration practices are fair and reasonable, aligned with best practice and balance both financial and non-
financial risk considerations.  

Diagram 2. Nuix’s remuneration governance framework 

 
1 Sir Iain Lobban – Sir Iain Lobban was engaged as an adviser to the Board prior to being appointed as a Director on 18 November 2020.  In 
this role he was paid $41,087 and this amount is included in the total fees paid in the above table 
2 Sue Thomas was engaged as an adviser to the Board prior to being appointed as a Director on 18 November 2020.  In this role she was 
paid $50,332 and this amount is included in the total fees paid in the above table 
3 Former Chairman Dr Anthony Castagna was engaged as a consultant from 1 January 2021 until 28 May 2021, when the arrangement was 
terminated by the Group, to facilitate and provide advice on a range of matters such as strategic initiatives, organisational structure, leading 
strategic projects and coaching of leaders as required. Fees payable under the consultancy agreement totalled $180,000 with an additional 
$10,847 paid in respect of superannuation contributions. These fees are not included in the above table on the basis that these transactions 
were not in respect of his service to the Group as a KMP.  

 

 

NUIX BOARD 

The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance, operation and stewardship of the Group and, in particular, 
for the long‑term growth and profitability, the strategies, values, policies and financial objectives.  

The Board reviews, challenges, applies judgment and, as appropriate, approves the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee’s recommendations. It approves the remuneration of Executive KMP and of Non-Executive Directors and the 
polices and frameworks that govern both.  
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6.2 Use of remuneration consultants  
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee seeks external remuneration advice to assist the Committee with discharging 
its duties and ensure that it is fully informed when making decisions (including on recent market trends and practices and 
other remuneration related matters).  

Any advice from consultants is used as a reference point by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and the Board 
only, and does not serve as a substitute for thorough consideration by Non-Executive Directors.  

During FY21, the Committee received advice from KPMG including benchmarking services and market practice in respect of 
incentive arrangements in ASX listed entities. 

No remuneration recommendations (as defined in section 9B of the Corporations Act 2001) were obtained during the financial 
year ended 30 June 2021.  

 

  

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE 

The role of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is to assist the Board by reviewing and making recommendations 
to the Board in relation to: 

• the Group’s Remuneration Policy, including as it applies to Non-Executive Directors and the process by which 
any pool of Non-Executive Directors’ fees approved by shareholders is allocated to Directors; 

• remuneration packages of senior executives, Non‑Executive Directors and Executive Directors, equity‑based 
incentive plans and other employee benefit programs; 

• succession issues and planning for the Board, Chief Executive Officer, senior executives and Executive Directors 
and the recruitment of new Non-Executive Directors and senior executives; 

• the appointment and re‑election of people as members of the Board and its committees; 
• the Group’s recruitment, retention and termination policies; 
• the process for the evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Board committees and individual Non-Executive 

Directors; and 
• the size and composition of the Board and strategies to address Board Diversity and the Group’s performance in 

respect of the Group’s Diversity Policy. 

MANAGEMENT EXTERNAL ADVICE 

Management is responsible for preparing proposals to be 
considered by the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee on remuneration arrangements and outcomes.  

Management also oversees the implementation of approved 
remuneration policies and processes. 

External advisers may be used from time-to-time to 
supplement the Remuneration and Nomination Committees 
own information and insights (as required) and to ensure the 
Committee is appropriately informed when discharging its 
obligations.   
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6.3 Details of Executive Service Agreements  
Key terms of the service agreements of Executive KMP are summarised in Table 15 below.   

Table 15. Key terms of Executive KMP contracts in FY21 

EXECUTIVE SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

Element Further detail 

Duration Ongoing term, except Interim CFO, which is fixed term 

Periods of notice 
required to 
terminate  

Either party may terminate the contract by giving the following notice: 

• CEO and CFO - 6 months’ written notice, 
• Executive Vice President, International and Executive Vice President, Americas – 90 days 

or 3 months’ written notice 
• Interim CFO – 1 months’ written notice 

For all Executive KMP, the Group may terminate the service agreement immediately without notice 
in certain circumstances, including (but not limited to) where the relevant Executive KMP engages 
in a serious breach of agreement or serious misconduct.  

Termination 
payments  

Members of the Executive KMP are not entitled to any termination payments. A payment may be 
made in lieu of notice at the discretion of the Board where termination occurs other than for cause.  

Restraints 

The CEO and CFO are subject to a post-employment restraint period of 12 months and 9 months 
respectively.  The Executive Vice President International and Executive Vice President, Americas 
have a 6 months’ post-employment restraint period.  The Interim CFO has a 1 month post-
employment restraint period. 
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7. Further information 

7.1 Executive KMP and Director share ownership 
Tables 16 and 17 below set out the number of shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by KMP.  

Table 16. Movements in shareholdings not held under an employee share plan 

 Opening 
balance   

Purchase of 
shares 

Disposal of 
shares 

Other changes 
during the 

year 
Balance  

30-Jun-21 

Non-Executive Directors 

Jeffrey Bleich - 35,000 - - 35,000 

Sir Iain Lobban - - - - - 

Daniel Phillips - - - - - 

Sue Thomas - 18,833 - - 18,833 

Dr Anthony Castagna 
(former) 1 13,345,750 - - 13,345,750 - 

Roy Grady (former) - - - - - 

David Standen 
(former) 

- - - - - 

Mark De Ambrosis 
(former) 2 

- - - - - 

Executive KMP 

Rod Vawdrey - 1,680,509 - - 1,680,509 

Stephen Doyle 
(former) 3 

- 834,370 - 834,370 - 

Chad Barton  - - - - - 

Jonathan Rees 4 4,610 - - - 4,610 

Ethan Treese 4 - - - - - 

 
1 Held through Blackall Limited, and have been shown as part of “other changes” as Dr Anthony Castagna ceased to be a KMP on 18 
November 2020. These shares remained subject to escrow as of 30 June 2021. Blackall Limited is a New Zealand incorporated company 
and legal and beneficial owner of described shares. Blackall Limited is ultimately owned by Delrick Limited, a company limited by 
guarantee incorporated in Vanuatu which maintains a retirement fund for Nuix co-founder Dr Anthony Casagna. 
2 Cavill Armitage Services Pty Ltd, the trustee of Cavill Armitage Co-Investment Fund, a special purpose investment vehicle managed by 
Armitage Associates Pty Ltd held 17,939,783 shares in Nuix and sold down half of these in the IPO. Mark De Ambrosis was the nominated 
director of the shareholder to the Nuix board. 
3 Shares held by Stephen Doyle have been shown as part of “other changes” as he ceased to be a KMP on 30 June 2021. These shares 
remained subject to escrow as of 30 June 2021. 
4 Opening balance for Jonathan Rees and Ethan Treese reflect the number of shares held on 15 June 2021 when they became KMPs. 
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Table 17. Movements in options held under an employee share plan 

 Instrument Opening 
balance  Granted Exercised Cancelled

1 

Other 
changes 

during the 
year 

Lapsed Balance  
30-Jun-21 

Exercisable 
30-Jun-21 

Non-Executive Directors 

Jeffrey Bleich Options 375,000 250,000 10,000 375,000 - - 240,000 240,000 

Sir Iain Lobban 2 Options 375,000 250,000 - 375,000 - - 250,000 250,000 

Daniel Phillips Options - - - - - - - - 

Sue Thomas Options - - - - - - - - 

Dr Anthony 
Castagna (former)3  Options 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 - - - 

Roy Grady (former) Options - - - - - - - - 

David Standen 
(former) Options - - - - - - - - 

Mark De Ambrosis 
(former) Options - - - - - - - - 

Executive KMP 

Rod Vawdrey Options 7,500,000 169,891 - 7,500,000 
 

- 169,891 - 

Stephen Doyle 
(former) Options 1,150,000 107,110 - 1,150,000 

 
53,555 53,555 - 

Chad Barton Options - - - - 
 

- - - 

Jonathan Rees 4 Options 420,041 - - - 
 

- 420,041 - 

Ethan Treese 4 Options 408,206 - - - 
 

- 408,206 - 

 

 
1 Amounts paid for the cancellation of these options were calculated as the Offer Price less the exercise price per option, multiplied by the 
number of options being cancelled. The payments to each of the individuals who where KMPs at the time of cancellation of options being 
Jeffrey Bleich, Sir Iain Lobban, Rod Vawdrey and Stephen Doyle were $1,320,000, $1,091,250, $27,975,000, and $4,430,500 respectively. 
2 Sir Iain Lobban holds options through Cyberswift Ltd, an entity incorporated in the United Kingdom.  
3 Held through Blackall Limited and have been shown as part of “other changes” as Dr Anthony Castagna ceased to be a KMP on 18 
November 2020. These shares remained subject to escrow as of 30 June 2021. Blackall Limited is a New Zealand incorporated company 
and legal and beneficial owner of described options. Blackall Limited is ultimately owned by Delrick Limited, a company limited by 
guarantee incorporated in Vanuatu which maintains a retirement fund for Nuix co-founder Dr Anthony Casagna. 
4 Opening balance for Jonathan Rees and Ethan Treese reflects the number of options held on 15 June 2021 when they became KMPs 
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7.2 Movement of securities  
Table 18 below discloses the number of options that vested or lapsed during FY21 for Non-Executive Directors and Executive KMP 

Table 18. Options awarded, vested or lapsed during the reporting period for KMP. 

 
1 Jeffrey Bleich exercised 10,000 options to acquire 10,000 shares with an exercise price of $5.01 for a total payment of $50,100 to the Company. The fair value of each option that was exercised had been 
determined by the Company (for accounting purposes in accordance with the requirements of AASB 2 Share-based payment) to be $1.47 each. 
2 On the basis that it is anticipated that Rod will retire, and that the options will remain on foot upon his retirement, the vesting date used in accounting for these options in FY2021 is 31 August 2022. 
3 Entries for Jonathan Rees and Ethan Treese reflects that no options were granted to them during the period of the year that they were KMPs, which commenced on 15 June 2021. 

Key Management 
Personnel  

Financial 
year Instrument 

Awarded 
during 

the 
reporting 

period 
Award 

date 

Fair value 
at award 

date  
$ 

Vesting 
date 

Exercise 
price  

$ 
Expiry 

date 

No. vested 
during the 
reporting 

period 

No. lapsed 
during the 
reporting 

period  

Value 
granted 

during the 
reporting 

period 
$ 

Value of 
options 

exercised 
during the 
reporting 

period  
$ 

Non-executive Directors 

Jeffrey Bleich FY21 Options 250,000  30-Sep-20 367,351 30-Sep-20 $5.01 30-Sep-23 250,000 - 367,351 14,694 1 

Sir Iain Lobban FY21 Options 250,000 30-Sep-20 367,351 30-Sep-20 $5.01 30-Sep-23 250,000 - 367,351 - 

Daniel Phillips FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 

Sue Thomas FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 

Dr Anthony Castagna 
(former) FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 

Roy Grady (former) FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 

David Standen (former) FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 

Mark De Ambrosis 
(former) FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 

Executive KMP 

Rod Vawdrey FY21 Options 169,891 4-Dec-20 397,386 31-Aug-22 
2 $5.31 31-Aug-25 - - 397,386 - 

Stephen Doyle (former) FY21 Options 107,110 4-Dec-20 250,537 30-Jun-21 $5.31 31-Aug-25 53,555 53,555 250,537 - 

Chad Barton FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 

Jonathan Rees 3 FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 

Ethan Treese 3 FY21 n/a - - - - - - - - - - 
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7.3 Other transactions and balances with KMP 

A. Loans to Executive KMP 

No Executive KMP or their related parties received loans, guaranteed or secured, directly or indirectly from the 
Group during the year. 

 

B. Other Executive KMP transactions 

With the exception of the Consultancy arrangement with Dr. Anthony Castagna disclosed in section 5.4, the 
group did not engage in any transactions with Executive KMP or their related parties during the year. 

 

C. Other transactions  

A former director, Dr. Tony Castagna is a director of Haventec Pty Ltd and had the capacity to significantly 
influence decision making of that company during the year. Nuix Limited provided office space to Haventec Pty 
Ltd for nil consideration during the year, under an arrangement which has ceased prior to 30 June 2021.   
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 
Notes 

2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Revenue 2.1 176,068 175,859 
Cost of goods sold  (18,851) (20,686) 
Gross profit  157,217 155,173 
Sales and distribution  (52,399)  (64,075) 
Research and development  (37,932)  (32,903) 
General and administration 2.3 (68,598) (24,675) 
Other income 2.4 1,160 1,011  
Other gains / (losses) – net 2.3 (2,015)  (250) 
Operating (loss) / profit  (2,567) 34,281 
Finance costs 2.5 (1,393)  (1,859) 
(Loss) / Profit before income tax  (3,960) 32,422 
Income tax benefit / (expense) 3.1 2,554  (8,835) 
(Loss) / Profit for the year  (1,406)  23,587  
Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (8,478)  1,809 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax  (8,478)  1,809  
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  (9,884) 25,396 
Earnings per share    
Basic 2.7 (0.00) 0.09 
Diluted 2.7 (0.00) 0.08 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The change in classification of comparative period balances is detailed in Note 1.9. 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

  
Notes 

2021 
$000 

(As adjusted) 
2020 
$000 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 70,865  38,539 
Trade and other receivables 4.2 63,767  51,218 
Other current assets 4.3 6,209  1,897 
Total current assets  140,841  91,654 
Non-current assets    
Deferred tax asset 3.3 5,225  499 
Intangible assets 5.1 197,415  197,155  
Property and equipment 5.2 2,018 2,412 
Right of use assets 5.3 9,036  12,872  
Other non-current assets 4.2 9,474 8,986 
Total non-current assets  223,168  221,924  
Total assets  364,009  313,578  
Current liabilities    
Current tax liabilities 3.4 571 327  
Trade and other payables 4.4 19,754 20,704 
Deferred revenue 4.5 33,832 36,419  
Provisions 4.6 2,878 2,664  
Borrowings 4.7 - 25,531  
Lease liabilities 5.3 2,635 3,704  
Total current liabilities  59,670 89,349 
Non-current liabilities    
Deferred tax liabilities 3.3 2,467 5,334 
Deferred revenue 4.5 11,528 11,372 
Provisions 4.6 542 507 
Lease liabilities 5.3 8,727 11,539 
Total non-current liabilities  23,264 28,752 
Total liabilities  82,934 118,101 
Net assets  281,075 195,477 
Equity    
Issued capital 8.1 370,696 104,227 
Reserves 8.2 (174,322) 5,143 
Retained earnings  84,701 86,107 
Total equity  281,075 195,477 

The consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The restatement of comparative period balances is detailed in Note 1.9. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

  
Issued capital 

$000 

Share option 
reserve 

$000 

Foreign 
currency  

translation 
reserve 

$000 

Retained 
earnings 

$000 

Total 
equity 
$000 

Balance at 1 July 2019 104,227 (1,339) 3,988 62,520 169,396 
Profit for the year - - -    23,587 23,587 
Other comprehensive income, net of 
tax - - 1,809 -    1,809 
Total comprehensive income - - 1,809 23,587 25,396 
Share-based payments - 685 - - 685 
Balance at 30 June 2020 104,227 (654) 5,797 86,107 195,477 
Profit for the year - - - (1,406) (1,406) 
Other comprehensive income - - (8,478) - (8,478) 
Total comprehensive income - - (8,478) (1,406) (9,884) 
Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs and tax 266,469 - - - 266,469 
Cancellation of options - (175,040) - - (175,040) 
Share-based payments - 4,053 - - 4,053 
Balance at 30 June 2021 370,696 (171,641) (2,681) 84,701 281,075 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

  Notes 
2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers              164,482  176,507 
Payments to employees and suppliers1             (152,039) (115,744) 
Interest received                      17  37  
Interest paid  (1,464) (1,823) 
Income tax paid 3.5 (195) (419) 
Net cash from operating activities 2.6 10,801 58,558  
Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for software development costs  5.1 (34,130) (42,455) 
Purchase of intangible assets 5.1 (126) (1,021) 
Purchase of property and equipment  5.2 (1,051) (1,355) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (35,307) (44,831) 
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 8.1 275,661 - 
Payments to option holders for cancellation of options 8.2 (175,614) - 
Payments for share issue costs1  (13,132) - 
Principal payments of lease  (3,739) (2,812) 
Repayment of borrowings 4.7 (25,071)  -  
Transaction costs on borrowings  - (151) 
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities  58,105 (2,963)  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  33,599 10,764  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 4.1 38,539 27,332  
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents  (1,273) 443  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year  4.1 70,865 38,539 

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 

 

 
1 Cash flows related to payment of offer costs are recognised in the statement of cash flows between operating activities and financing 
activities, on a basis consistent with the split between recognition in equity and profit and loss (refer Note 2.3). The total amount of cash paid 
for offer costs during the year was $45,409,000 of which $32,277,000 was recognised within payments to employees and suppliers as part 
of operating activities, and $13,132,000 was recognised as payments for share issue costs as financing activities. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
1. Basis of preparation 

The notes are grouped into 9 sections. Each section contains an introduction and general information, along with 
the relevant accounting policies and key judgements.  

The layout of these financial statements has been streamlined to present them in a way that is intuitive for readers 
to follow. This is achieved by grouping disclosures, and focusing information in a manner which provides 
increased clarity and ease of understanding.  

This section describes the key accounting principles and policies that we have adopted in preparing the financial 
statements for the Group as a whole. This section also analyses the impact of any newly issued but not yet 
effective accounting standards which will be effective for Nuix in future years. 

1.1 Reporting entity 
Nuix Limited (the ‘Company’) is a company that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Company’s 
registered address is Level 27, 1 Market Street, Sydney NSW Australia. Nuix is a leading provider of investigative 
analytics and intelligence software. These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as ‘the Group’). 

1.2 Basis of accounting 
The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and 
the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on [xx] September 2021. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the reporting currency of the 
Company, and has been prepared on the basis of historical cost except in accordance with relevant accounting 
policies where assets and liabilities are stated at their fair values. 

Nuix is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial / Directors’ Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191. In accordance with that instrument all financial information presented has been rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

1.3 Basis of consolidation 
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of activities 
and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Group.  

The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of whether an 
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration test is met if substantially all of 
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar 
identifiable assets.  

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether 
equity instruments or other assets are acquired.  

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value. The consideration transferred 
does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally 
recognised in profit or loss.  

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent 
consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured, 
and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair 
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value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are 
recognised in profit or loss.  

Identifiable assets and liabilities in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.  

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity and 
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit and loss as a bargain 
purchase. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. 

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. 

1.3.1 Subsidiaries  

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group ‘controls’ an entity when it is exposed to or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.  

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

1.3.2 Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign currency 
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.  

1.4 Foreign currency transactions and balances 
1.4.1 Functional and presentation currency  

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group companies at 
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at 
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally 
recognised in profit or loss and presented within finance costs.  

1.4.2 Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition, are translated into Australian dollars at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and 
expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions.  

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) and accumulated in the 
translation reserve, except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests.  

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint 
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to 
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes part of its interest in a subsidiary but 
retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests.  

1.5 New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group 
A number of new or amended standards and interpretations became applicable for the current reporting period 
effective from 1 July 2020. The Group did not have to change its accounting policies or make retrospective 
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adjustments to adopt these standards. As a result of its shares becoming listed on the Australian Stock Exchange, 
the Group has applied AASB 133 / IAS 33 Earnings Per Share for the first time for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

1.6 Impact of standards issued but not yet applied by the Group 
A number of new or amended standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 
June 2021 full year reporting and have not been early adopted by the Group. When they are required to be 
adopted, they are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

1.7 Use of judgements and estimates 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements and estimates that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or in the year of 
the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future years. 

Significant areas of estimation and critical judgements are described in the relevant note.  

• Revenue recognition – Note 2.1; 

• Uncertain tax position – Note 3; 

• Capitalisation and useful life of intangible assets – Note 5.1; 

• Impairment testing of goodwill – Note 5.4; and 

• Contingent liabilities – Note 9.5. 

1.8 Significant events and transactions 
The Company completed an initial public offering (‘IPO’ or the ‘Offer’) of its shares, whereby 51,904,161 new 
shares were issued by the Company and 127,574,983 shares were offered by existing shareholders at an offer 
price of $5.31 per share. 

The Company was admitted to the Official List of ASX Limited on 4 December 2020.  

In relation to the Offer, the Company performed the following transactions: 

• Issued 51,904,161 new shares at $5.31 each (refer Note 8.1); 

• Cancelled 38,961,508 existing options to acquire shares of the Company (refer Note 8.2); 

• Incurred $45,409,000 of costs related to the offer, $1,014,000 related to listing fees and $2,637,000 
related to the sale process explored by Nuix as an alternative to the offer (refer Note 2.3); 

• Granted options and performance rights as detailed in the Prospectus (refer Note 6.2) 

The accounting for these transactions during the year is described in the relevant notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.  

COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organisation on 11 March 2020. The outbreak and the 
response of governments in dealing with the pandemic are interfering with general activity levels within the 
community and the economy. The scale and duration of these developments continue to remain uncertain. Nuix 
has continued to operate through COVID-19 (and government restrictions to manage the pandemic) with the 
majority of staff able to carry out their roles, working remotely where required, in developing software, entering 
into new customer contracts, supporting and training customers, and operating the business. Nuix is currently 
requiring or encouraging its staff to work remotely and has implemented work-related travel restrictions on staff. 

1.9 Changes in classification and presentation 
During 2021, the Group amended the classification and presentation of share-based payment expenses to reflect 
more appropriately the functions that incur these costs. Comparative amounts in the statement of profit and loss 
and other comprehensive income were reclassified for consistency. As a result, amounts of $452,000, $98,000 
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and $135,000 were reclassified to the comparative sales and distribution, research and development and general 
and administration costs respectively. 

The Group has also amended the presentation in the balance sheet to reflect the portion of unbilled revenue and 
deferred revenue expected to be realised greater than 12 months post balance date as non-current. This resulted 
in a reduction in current unbilled revenues of $8,986,000 and a corresponding increase in other non-current 
assets, and a reduction in current deferred revenues of $11,372,000 and a corresponding increase in non-current 
deferred revenues compared to amounts previously presented as at 30 June 2020. 

1.10 Financial instruments 
1.10.1 Recognition and initial measurement 

Trade receivables are initially recognised when customers are invoiced. All other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual obligations.  

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition. Trade receivables are initially measured at the 
transaction price. 

1.10.2 Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or in which the Group neither transfers/ 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership, and it does not retain control.  

Financial liabilities  

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
financial liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is 
recognised at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount 
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 

1.10.3 Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has the legally enforceable right to set off the amounts 
and it intends either to settle them net, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

1.10.4 Impairment 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its trade receivables 
and contract assets. Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an 
amount equal to the expected lifetime losses. The expected lifetime losses are those that result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. Loss allowances for financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.  

1.11 Goods and services tax 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the associated goods and services tax (GST), unless the 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount 
of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet. Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  

The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
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1.12 Classification of expenses 
1.12.1 Presentation of results 

The Group has presented the expense categories within the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a 
functional basis. The categories used are cost of goods sold, research and development, sales and distribution 
and general and administration. The presentation style provides insight into the Company’s business model and 
enables users to consider the results of the Group compared to other major software companies. The 
methodology and the nature of costs within each category are further described below. 

1.12.2 Cost of goods sold 

Cost of goods sold consists of expenses directly associated with securely hosting the Group’s services and 
providing support to customers. Costs include data centre costs, personnel and related costs directly associated 
with cloud infrastructure and customer consulting, implementation and customer support, contracted third party 
costs, reseller channel costs and allocated overheads. 

1.12.3 Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related costs directly associated with 
the Company’s research and development employees, as well as direct costs of research and development 
(including subscriptions) and allocated overheads. When future economic benefits from development of an 
intangible asset are determined probable and the development activities are capable of being reliably measured, 
the costs are capitalised as an intangible asset and then amortised to profit or loss over the estimated life of the 
asset created. The development activities comprise the interface design, coding, documentation and testing of a 
chosen alternative for new or improved software products, processes, systems and services. The amortisation 
of those costs capitalised is included as a research and development expense.  

1.12.4 Sales and distribution expenses 

Sales and distribution expenses consist of personnel costs directly associated with the sales and marketing 
team’s activities to acquire new customers and grow revenue from existing customers. Other costs included are 
external advertising, digital platforms, marketing and promotional events as well as allocated overheads. 

1.12.5 General and administration expenses 

General and administration expenses consist of personnel and related costs for the Company’s executive, Board 
of Directors, finance, legal, human resources, corporate strategy, CISO, and IT employees. They also include 
legal, accounting and other professional services fees, insurance premiums, acquisition and integration costs 
associated with the Company’s ongoing acquisition strategy, other corporate expenses and allocated expenses.  

1.12.6 Overhead allocation 

The presentation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income by function 
requires certain overhead costs to be allocated to functions. These allocations require management to apply 
judgement. The costs associated with the Group’s facilities, internal information technology and non-product 
related depreciation and amortisation are allocated to each function based on respective headcount. 
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2. Operating results and financial performance notes 

This section focuses on the operating results and financial performance of the Group.  

It includes disclosures related to revenue and its recognition during the period, breakdowns of selected costs, segment 
reporting, other income, and a reconciliation of profit before tax to operating cash flows. 

2.1 Revenue 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Software                   171,513  168,969 
Services                       4,465  5,891 
Hardware 90  999  
                   176,068  175,859  

 

Disaggregation of revenue 

The Group disaggregates revenue by categories shown in the tables below. 

Timing of revenue recognition  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Point in time                   118,592  118,648 
Overtime                     57,476  57,211  
                   176,068  175,859  

 

Revenue  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Subscription licences  119,049 113,278 
Perpetual licences  30,442 35,043 
Consumption licences  22,022 20,610 
Total licence revenues (including related support and maintenance) 171,513 168,931 
   
Professional services 4,465 5,930 
Hardware                     90  998 
Total other revenues 4,555 6,928  
Total revenues 176,068 175,859 
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Accounting policies 

(i) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects 
the consideration expected to be received in exchange for those products or services. We enter into contracts that can 
include various combinations of products and services, which are generally capable of being distinct and accounted for as 
separate performance obligations. Revenue is recognised net of allowances for returns and any taxes collected from 
customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.  

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to our customers. 

(ii) Nature of products and services 

Licences for on-premises software provide the customer with a right to use the software as it exists when made available 
to the customer. Customers may purchase perpetual licences or subscribe to licences for on-premise software, which 
provide customers with the same functionality and differ mainly in the duration over which the customer benefits from the 
software. Revenue from distinct on-premises licenses are recognised upfront at the point in time when the software is 
made available to the customer, and in the case  of renewals,  when the original period ends and the additional period has 
started on the basis that this is the date from which the customer can use and benefit from the renewal.  

Subscription licencing agreements are generally combined with support and maintenance, which conveys rights to 
unspecified upgrades released over the contract period and support and maintenance to help customers deploy and use 
products more efficiently. On-premises licenses are considered distinct performance obligations when sold with support 
and maintenance.  

Revenue allocated to support and maintenance is recognised rateably over the contract period as customers 
simultaneously consume and receive the benefits, given that support and maintenance comprises distinct performance 
obligations that are satisfied over time.  

For consumption licences, the customer is charged based on the volume of data processed or under management in each 
licence period. Customers are charged on a tiered “cost per gigabyte” basis, typically with minimum annual volume / 
revenue commitments.  

Where such consumption licences are for a right to use software, and there is a fixed minimum commitment, a portion of 
the contract value related to the sale of the licence is recognised when the licence is made available to the customers, with 
the portion related to support and maintenance recognised over time.  Any overage charges are recognised when the 
usage occurs, as this corresponds directly with the value to the customer of Nuix’s performance completed to date.   

Where such consumption licences are for a right to access software, generally the case for consumption licences related 
to our SaaS offering Discover SaaS, revenue is recognised over time. This is because the obligation to provide a SaaS 
service is determined to be a series of distinct service periods, and allocation of the fees earned to each distinct service 
period based on the customer’s usage each period would reasonably reflect the fees to which Nuix expect to be entitled 
for providing the SaaS during that period.  

A licence is a right to access software where: 

• the contract requires, or the customer reasonably expects, that the entity will undertake activities that significantly 
affect the IP to which the customer has rights; 

• the rights granted by the licence directly expose the customer to any positive or negative effects of the entity’s 
activities that significantly affect the IP; and 

• those activities do not result in the transfer of a good or a service to the customer as those activities occur.  

(iii) Support and maintenance revenue 

Support and maintenance services are either bundled into licensing arrangements or sold separately to customers.   

Where these services are bundled the Group allocates the transaction price to support and maintenance performance 
obligations based on their relative standalone selling price.  We determine standalone selling price by considering multiple 
factors including but not limited to prices we charge for similar offerings, market conditions, competitive landscape and 
pricing practices.  Priority is placed on observable pricing where available. Support and maintenance services are provided 
over the contractual period and accordingly are recognised over time.  
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(iv) Professional services revenue 

Professional services revenue mainly consists of fees charged for consultancy and training service. Revenue from a 
contract to provide consulting and training services is recognised over time as the consulting and training is performed. 

(v) Sale of goods 

The Group on occasion will provide 3rd Party Software and Hardware to a customer.  Revenue from the sale of these 
goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer of control of the goods to the customer. 

(vi) Costs of obtaining a customer contract 

Incremental costs associated with acquiring a customer contract, such as sales commissions, are generally required to be 
recognised as an asset and amortised over a period that corresponds with the period of benefit.  

An assessment of commissions paid by the Group was performed in connection with the sale of software products.  As a 
practical expedient, Nuix generally recognises the commissions as an expense when incurred given the amortisation period 
of any capitalised amount would be recognised in one year or less.  This is a result of license revenue being recognised 
at a point in time and commensurate commission being paid upon inception of a contract.  Consequently, under current 
arrangements costs of obtaining a contract are expensed in the period incurred. 

(vii) Sales through partners 

Where the Group uses partners, the Group must assess whether its customer is the partner or the end user. Where the 
end user is the customer, revenue is recognised for the consideration paid by the end user with any commission retained 
by the partner recognised as commission expense within costs of goods sold.  Where the partner is the customer, revenue 
is recognised at the net (of commission) amount received.   

(viii) Contract balances and other receivables 

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record an unbilled revenue when 
revenue is recognised prior to invoicing, or deferred revenue when revenue is recognised subsequent to payment being 
received or due. For multi-year agreements, we generally invoice customers annually at the beginning of each annual 
coverage period. We record a receivable related to revenue recognised for multi-year on-premises licences as we have 
an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment in the future related to those licences.  

Deferred revenue comprises mainly unearned revenue related to support and maintenance obligations, cloud services 
(Nuix hosted SaaS services), and revenues from subscription licences where Nuix presently have billed customers, but 
the customer can only begin to benefit from the licence post balance date.  

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 
to 60 days. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, we have determined 
our contracts generally do not include a significant financing component. The primary purpose of our invoicing terms is to 
provide customers with simplified and predictable ways of purchasing our products and services, not to receive financing 
from our customers or to provide customers with financing.  An example of providing such simplified and predictable ways 
of purchasing our product and services include multi-year on-premises licences that are invoiced annually, with revenue 
recognised up front.  
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Significant judgements and assumptions 

Determination of contract term 

For licences to use our software, determining the non-cancellable term of a contract with a customer can require significant 
judgement. Given a substantial portion of our contracting is with governmental agencies, and the varied nature of our 
contracting with customers, interpretation of termination clauses at the inception of the contract requires judgement. If a 
contract term is determined to be non-cancellable for a longer period, a higher amount of revenue is likely to be recognised 
upfront; whereas a contract term that is determined to be non-cancellable for a shorter period, a lower amount of revenue is 
likely to be recognised upfront. 

Contracts with multiple performance obligations 

The Group enters into contracts with its customers that can include promises to transfer multiple performance obligations. A 
promised good or service must be distinct to be accounted for as a separate performance obligation. For software license 
contracts, there is a combination of goods and services that include software licensing, software maintenance and support 
services which are generally treated as separate performance obligations on the basis that the customers can benefit from 
them separately (or with other rights that they have), and they are separately identifiable in the contract.  

Judgement has been exercised in estimating the standalone selling price for software licences with bundled support and 
maintenance. To estimate the standalone selling prices for the software licenses and bundled support and maintenance, Nuix 
considers available observable inputs, such as the support and maintenance charges where there is no bundling, including 
adjustments to these observable inputs to reflect differences in the licensing arrangements, market conditions, competitive 
landscape and pricing practices.  

Recognition of revenue on sales made through partners 

Where the Group transacts with customers through partners, we are required to assess whether the partner is: 

• our customer – in which case, Nuix will recognise the net consideration receivable from the partner as revenue; or 

• an agent, and the end customers are Nuix’s customers, in which case Nuix will recognise the gross consideration paid 
by the end customer as revenue, with the partner’s fee usually recognised as a cost.  

Nuix sells through partners which includes entities that are referred to by Nuix as resellers and distributors. Nuix’s partners 
help to extend coverage and capacity of Nuix’s distribution network. The flagship program for Nuix partners is known as the 
Partner Connect Program, which involves the tiering of partners to deliver a strategic focus by Nuix on high revenue generating 
partners and an efficient support framework for those with less sales frequency and volume. A reseller is an intermediary that 
acts on behalf of Nuix and sells Nuix software to third parties. A distributor also sells Nuix software to third parties, however 
the distributor may also appoint sub-distributors or agents to market and sell Nuix products on their behalf. There are a number 
of other types of organisations that Nuix considers to be partners that do not support indirect sales in the same way as a 
reseller or distributor. These partnerships include advisories and service providers, integrations partners, authorised training 
partners, original equipment manufacturing (OEM) partners and transactional resellers.  

Nuix has concluded that it is only through reseller partners, that the partners do not obtain control of the goods and services 
that are provided by Nuix to end customers as part of that sales channel. In relation to sales of licences to Nuix software, 
resellers are required to provide Nuix with an order from an end customer and Nuix has the unilateral ability to decline such 
an order form. On the basis that the licence to an end customer is generated only on acceptance by Nuix of such an order 
form, and that the licence and associated support and maintenance is provided directly to the end customer, Nuix has 
concluded that the end customer is its customer, and the reseller is acting as an agent in these arrangements. In these 
instances, Nuix applies judgment to determine the consideration to which it is entitled using all relevant facts and 
circumstances that are available.  

For all other sales made through partners (e.g. advisories, distributors and original equipment manufacturing partners), Nuix 
have concluded that the partners take control of the licence and related support and maintenance, and as a result those 
partners are Nuix’s customers in those arrangements. 
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2.2 Segment information 
The Group manages its operations as a single business operation and there are no parts of the Group that qualify 
as operating segments under AASB 8 Operating Segments. The CEO (Chief Operating Decision Maker or 
“CODM”) assesses the financial performance of the Group on an integrated basis only and accordingly, the 
Group is managed on the basis of a single segment. Information presented to the CODM on a monthly basis is 
categorised by type of revenue as provided below.  

Further, earnings before interest, tax and depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) is used to assess the 
performance of the business. 

Segment performance: 

Continuing operations  
2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Software                   171,513  168,969 
Services                       4,465  5,891  
Hardware 90   999  
Total revenue                   176,068   175,859  

In general, a large amount of revenue is generated by customers that are global, from transactions that cross 
multiple countries and where the source of revenue can be unrelated to the location of the users accessing the 
software. Accordingly, the Group is managed as a single segment.  

Reconciliation of segment EBITDA to the net profit after tax is as follows: 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

EBITDA 30,520  62,931 
Interest expense  (1,393)  (1,859) 
Foreign exchange gains and losses (2,015) (250) 
Depreciation and amortisation  (31,072)  (28,400) 
Income tax benefit / (expense) 2,554   (8,835) 
Net (loss) / profit after tax  (1,406)  23,587 

Geographic Information 

The amounts for revenue by region in the following table are based on the invoicing location of the customer. 

Revenue generated by location of customer: 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Asia Pacific                     29,519  28,749 
Americas                     92,348  97,556  
Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA)                     54,201  49,554  
                   176,068  175,859  

Non-current assets by geographic location: 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Asia Pacific 121,272  112,430 
Americas                     99,604   108,424  
Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) 2,292   1,070 
                   223,168   221,924  
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2.3 Profit for the year 
The profit for the year has been arrived at after charging the following items: 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Finance costs 1,393 1,859 
Other losses    
 Net realised and unrealised foreign exchange loss (2,015) (250) 
Expenses (included in general and administration)   
 Offer costs1 32,277 - 
 Corporate action / trade sale2 2,637 - 
 Listing fees 1,014 - 
 Bad debts expense 2,215 1,709 
 Low value / short term leases 106 372  
Depreciation and amortisation (recognised across functions)   
 Sales and distribution 2,615 2,887  
 Research and development 27,157 24,626  
 General and administration 1,300 887  

2.4 Other income 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Government grant income 1,086 974  
Other income 74 37 
 1,160 1,011  

Government grants recognised as other income for the current financial year relates to benefits received under 
the Research and Development Tax Incentive regime in excess of the statutory income tax rate. 

 
  

 
1 The total costs related to the offer were $45,409,000, of which $13,132,000 ($9,192,000, net of related tax impact) related to the issue of 
new shares by the Company and are offset against equity raised in the offer. The remaining $32,277,000 ($22,593,000, net of related tax 
impact) relates to the sale of existing shares and is recognised as an expense within General and Administration, with the related tax benefit 
recognised in profit and loss. 
2 Relates to one-off costs of a sale process explored by Nuix Limited as an alternative to the Offer. 

Accounting policies – government grants 

Grants from the government are recognised where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the 
Group will comply with all attached conditions.  

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them 
with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 

Government grants relating to intangible assets are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and they are 
credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets. 

Allowances under the Australian Research and Development Tax Incentive regime are accounted for as a tax credit, except 
for the incremental benefit above the statutory income tax rate which is accounted for as a government grant. 
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2.5 Finance costs 

 

Accounting policies – finance costs 

Interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method.  The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of a financial liability to the amortised cost of the 
financial liability. 

2.6 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Interest expense 1,393 1,859 
 1,393 1,859 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Cash flows from operating activities   
(Loss) / profit for the year (before income tax) (3,961) 32,422 
Non-cash flows in (loss) / profit:    
 Depreciation 4,567 5,048  
 Amortisation of intangible assets 26,506 23,351  
 Amortisation of capitalised borrowing costs 69 - 
 Bad debts expense 2,225 1,709  
 Share based payment expense 4,627 685  
 Net exchange rate differences 1,687 748  
 Fixed assets write-off - 197  
Changes in assets and liabilities:    
 Increase in trade and other receivables (15,884) (16,405) 
 (Increase) / decrease in deferred tax asset 381 2,101 
 Increase in other current assets (4,310) (384) 
 (Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables (3,035) 1,458 
 (Decrease) / increase in deferred revenue (3,073) 8,308 
 Increase in employee benefits provisions 1,542 2,903 
 Decrease in current tax liabilities (377)  (10,015) 
 Increase in deferred tax liabilities (165) 6,431 
 Increase in provision for make good 2 1  
Net cash from operating activities 10,801 58,558  
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2.7 Earnings per share 

 

Accounting policies – earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: 

• profit attributable to owners, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares 

• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, excluding any treasury 
shares. 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts amounts used to compute basic earnings per share to take into account: 

• the after-tax effect of interest / financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and 

• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the 
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares... 

 
  

 
1 Calculated as the gross shares issuable under option (i.e. not calculated using the treasury method) 
2 In the year ended 30 June 2021, the conversion of the options and performance rights on issue would reduce the loss per share. 

Potential ordinary shares are ‘antidilutive’ when their conversion to ordinary shares would decrease loss per share from continuing operations. 
The calculation of diluted earnings per share does not assume conversion, exercise, or other issue of potential ordinary shares that would 
have an antidilutive effect on earnings per share. 

As a result, the effect of share options and performance rights on diluted earnings per share is considered to be ‘antidilutive’ in the year 
ended 30 June 2021. 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

(Loss) / profit for the year ($’000) (1,406) 23,587 
Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares 295,123,838  265,400,633  
Basic earnings per share (cents) (0.00)  0.09  
   
(Loss) / Profit for the year ($’000) (1,406) 23,587 
Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares 295,123,838  265,400,633  
Shares issuable in relation to equity-based compensation scheme 18,519,920 1  36,499,547  
Effect of share options and performance rights Antidilutive2 - 
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares 295,123,838  301,900,180  
Diluted earnings per share (cents) (0.00)  0.08  
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3. Taxation of our global operations 

This section focuses on the taxation of our global operations.  

It includes disclosures related to the income tax expense recognised from both current and deferred taxes, a reconciliation 
of the effective tax rate for the group, and breakdowns for the deferred tax assets and liabilities of the group.  

The note also includes disclosures of significant judgements and uncertainties related to our tax positions 

3.1 Income tax (benefit) / expense 

3.2 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

(Loss) / profit before income tax expense (3,960) 32,422 
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%)  (1,188) 9,727 
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating 
taxable income:   

Entertainment 7 48 
Share-based payments 1,388 150 
Difference in overseas tax rates (1,121) (659) 
Benefit of Australian R&D tax credit amortised to other income  (326) (303) 
Benefit of United States R&D tax credit recognised in income tax expense (660) (119) 
Others (654) (9) 
Income tax (benefit) / expense (2,554) 8,835 

 
  

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Current tax   
Current tax on profits for the year 5,039 4,724 
Total current tax expense 5,039 4,724  
Deferred income tax   
Increase in deferred tax assets (4,727)  (1,223) 
Increase in deferred tax liabilities (2,866) 5,334  
Total deferred tax (benefit) / expense (7,593) 4,111 
Income tax (benefit) / expense (2,554)  8,835 
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3.3 Deferred tax balances 
Deferred tax assets 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Research and development tax credit to carry forward 20,314 19,038 
Employee benefits 1,374 1,317  
Deferred revenue 6,193 9,823  
Lease liabilities  2,794 3,697  
Tax losses 820 22  
Property and equipment - 244  
s40-880 “black hole” deductions related to IPO costs 12,106 - 
Accruals and provisions 1,207 525 
Others 1,858 776  
Total deferred tax assets 46,666 35,442 
Set-off deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions  (41,441) (34,943) 
Net deferred tax assets 5,225  499  

Deferred tax liabilities 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Intellectual property 39,136  35,374  
Right of use assets 2,220  3,127  
Unbilled revenues 1,152 815 
Others 1,400  961  
Total deferred tax liabilities 43,908 40,277 
Set-off deferred tax assets pursuant to set-off provisions (41,441) (34,943) 
Net deferred tax liabilities 2,467 5,334 

Except for the recognition $3,939,000 of the deferred tax asset related to offer costs being directly in equity, all 
movements in deferred taxes were recognised in profit and loss. 

3.4 Current tax liabilities 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Opening balance 327 411 
Current income tax provision (net of tax credits) 454 332 
Income tax payments (195) (419) 
Prior year adjustments (47) - 
Foreign exchange difference 32 3 
Closing balance 571 327 
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Accounting policies – income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates 
to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income. 

i. Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment 
to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best 
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is 
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising 
from dividends.  

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

ii. Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for: 

• Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

• Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent 
that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable profits 
are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary 
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of 
existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.  

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects an assessment of uncertain tax positions taken. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred 
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 

iii. Accounting for Investment Tax Credits 

The accounting for an Investment Tax Credit (ITCs) is dependent upon whether the arrangement is more akin to a credit 
received for investment in a certain area, or a rather reduction in an applicable tax rate. Where an ITC is the former, it is 
treated as a government grant (with the relevant benefit amortised over the period necessary to match the benefits with 
the costs that they are intended to compensate), and where it is the latter, it is treated as a part of current tax expense. 

iv. Uncertainty over income tax treatments 

The application of the tax law to a particular transaction or circumstances may be unclear and the acceptance of the 
treatment may not be known until the relevant taxation authority undertakes an examination of the tax treatment adopted 
or, in the event of a dispute, when a court makes a decision at a future time.  
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Where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments the recognition and measurement of current or deferred tax assets 
or liabilities is determined applying Interpretation 23 – Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments.  

Each uncertain tax treatment is considered separately unless consideration together with one or more other uncertain tax 
treatments gives rise to a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertain treatments on examination by the relevant 
taxation authority. 

Where it is considered probable (more likely than not) that the relevant taxation authority will accept the tax treatment used 
or planned to be used in its income tax filings the tax treatment adopted is consistent with that used or planned treatment 
in the income tax filings.  

In assessing such probability in the recognition and measurement of uncertain tax treatments it is assumed that the relevant 
taxation authority will examine amounts it has the right to examine and have full knowledge of all related information when 
making those examinations and determining whether or not to accept the tax treatment in the relevant income tax filings. 
In the event that the relevant taxation authority will not accept the tax treatment, the uncertainty of each treatment is 
measured using either of the following methods: 

• The most likely amount – the single most likely amount in a range of possible outcomes, particularly where the 
outcome is binary or concentrated on one value; or 

• The expected value – the sum of the probability weighted amounts in a range of possible outcomes. 

In the event that an uncertain tax treatment affects both current and deferred tax the judgements made in relation to the 
uncertain tax treatment are made consistently for current and deferred tax. 

Significant judgements and assumptions 

Uncertain tax position 

The Group is subject to tax in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in recognising and measuring 
current and deferred tax assets and liabilities as there are transactions in the ordinary course of business and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax treatment on examination by a relevant taxation authority or, in the event of dispute, decision by 
a court is uncertain.  

The Group recognises liabilities based on estimates of whether additional tax will be due. Where the final tax outcomes of 
these matters is different from the amount that was initially recognised, such differences will impact on the results for the 
year in which the respective income tax and deferred tax assets or provisions in the year in which such determination is 
made. The Group recognises tax assets based on forecasts of future profits against which those assets may be utilised.  

The Group recognises and measures uncertain tax treatments in accordance with the policy stated above.  

In the current and prior periods, the Group has exercised judgement in recognising and measuring the tax benefit of 
Research and Development (‘R&D’) tax offsets available under Australian tax legislation relating to eligible R&D 
expenditure incurred on eligible overseas development activities in excess of expenditure incurred on related eligible core 
Australian activities. In respect of the Group’s Endpoint project, the relevant overseas and Australian activities were the 
subject of an advance overseas finding for the years ended 30 June 2016 to 30 June 2018. The relevant advance overseas 
finding continues to be in force.  

An advance overseas finding was made that the overseas expenditure on the eligible overseas development activities 
would not exceed the Australian portion of the total development expenditure on the eligible R&D activities as required by 
section 28C Industry Research and Development Act 1986 over the life of the project activities. The finding was made on 
the basis of estimates of actual and anticipated expenditure on the activities provided by the Group totalling $42,673,000 
in the course of the application for an advance overseas finding in September 2016 for years ended 30 June 2016 to 30 
June 2018 only.  

The Group has exercised judgement in prior years in assessing that it is probable that the relevant taxation authority (the 
Australian Tax Office, ‘ATO’) will accept the tax treatment for the Endpoint project for the years ended 30 June 2016 to 30 
June 2018. This judgement that it is probable that the tax treatment for the Endpoint project for the years ended 30 June 
2016 to 30 June 2018 would be accepted has remained consistent in the preparation of both the current and prior year 
financial statements.  
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3.5  Income tax paid by legal entity 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Nuix North America Inc. - 188  
Nuix Limited - - 
Nuix Technology UK Ltd 168 16  
Nuix Pte. Ltd. 11 - 
Nuix Philippines Regional Operating Headquarters 10 13  
Nuix Ireland Ltd 6 202  
 195 419  

3.6 Franking credits 
Franking credits arising from the payment of income tax, by the Company during the years ended 30 June 2021 
and 30 June 2020 are represented below. 

Franking credits attributable to the Company 
2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax 
rate of 30% (2020: 30%) 669 669 

The amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for: 

• franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax; 

• franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date 
(2020: Nil); and 

• franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting 
date (2020: Nil). 

Franking credits attributable to the Company only are represented above. Additional franking credits will be 
received if the distributable profits of the subsidiaries were paid as dividends to the Company. 

In the current period the Group has initiated an early engagement request with the ATO to obtain certainty in relation to 
the overseas development expenditure on the Endpoint project for the years ended 30 June 2016 to 30 June 2019. 

The Group has further exercised judgement that the core Australian activities approved under the advance overseas finding 
were effectively completed during the year ended 30 June 2019. As such the Group will not be claiming R&D tax offsets 
for expenditure relating to the Endpoint project in the year ended 30 June 2020 or later years. 

Pending the outcome of such early engagement with the ATO the Group has resolved to amend its filed tax position for 
the year ended 30 June 2019 to align the tax return treatment with the financial statement treatment adopted in the 
finalisation of the FY2020 financial statements (i.e. tax asset of $1,477,700 in relation to FY2019 was not recognised in 
the FY2020 financial statements), and as presented in the Interim Financial Report for the half year ended 31 December 
2020. The tax treatment applied in the anticipated filed positions for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020 is 
consistent with the treatment applied in the preparation of the financial statements, and management have concluded that 
it is probable that the tax authority will accept the treatment applied in the filed positions for the years ended 30 June 2016 
through 30 June 2018. Should the treatment applied in relation to the filed positions for the years ended 30 June 2016 
through 30 June 2018 not be accepted, the financial effect as of 30 June 2021 would be that a deferred tax asset of 
$3,640,000 and a deferred government grant revenue balance of $1,826,890 would be derecognised. 

The Group has exercised judgement in determining that it is probable that expenditure for years ended 30 June 2019 to 
2021 which may be ineligible for R&D tax offset will be accepted by the ATO on examination with full knowledge of related 
information, as being eligible for deduction under section 8-1 ITAA 1997 having a revenue characterisation.  

The Group envisages that the outcome of the early engagement with the ATO will be known during the course of the year 
ending 30 June 2022 with any recognition of a deferred tax asset attributable to the R&D tax offsets arising under the 
advance overseas finding for the Endpoint project for the year ended 30 June 2019 occurring in that year. 

The recognition of R&D offsets in previous periods in relation to the Endpoint project has not given rise to underpayment 
of tax in the current or prior periods.  
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4. Working capital 

This section focuses on the working capital of the group as of balance date, how it has moved during the year, and how 
balances are anticipated to be realised in forthcoming periods. 

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Bank balances 70,865 38,539 
Total cash and cash equivalents 70,865 38,539  

 

Accounting policies – cash 

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. Refer to notes 
1.10 and 7.1 for accounting policies and disclosures related to financial instruments respectively. 

4.2 Trade and other receivables 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Trade receivables 20,880 26,205 
Provision for impairment of trade receivables and unbilled revenue (1,565) (470) 
Unbilled revenue 53,838 34,110  
Other debtors 87 359  
Total trade and other receivables 73,241 60,204  

Presentation of balances 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Current  63,767                    51,218 
Non-current                      9,474  8,986  
Total trade and other receivables                    73,241                    60,204  

Ageing of overdue receivables 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

1 – 3 months 3,601 7,340 
4 – 6 months   561 738  
Over 6 months 1,176 917  
 5,338 8,995  
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Accounting policies – trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, unless they contain 
significant financing components when they are recognised at fair value. They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less loss allowance.  

Nuix has contracts with certain customers, for purchases of a subscription licenses that cover a multiyear period. As the 
term of a license is a characteristic of the license which is delivered to and controlled by the customer at a point-in-time, 
the portion of the consideration related to the provision of the license is recognised as revenue when the license is delivered 
to the customer, the contractual term of the license period begins, and the customer can benefit from having the license.  

Refer to notes 1.10 and 7.1 for accounting policies and disclosures related to financial instruments respectively. 

4.3 Other current assets 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Prepayments 6,057 1,698 
Other receivables  152 199  
Total other current assets 6,209 1,897  

4.4 Trade and other payables 
 2021 

$000 
2020 
$000 

Sundry payables and accrued expenses 9,670 9,498 
Trade payables 5,846 6,770  
Customer deposits 186 453  
Payroll tax and other statutory liabilities 3,686 1,822  
Indirect taxes payable 366 2,161  
Total trade and other payables 19,754 20,704  

 

Accounting policies – trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year, 
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 45 days of recognition. Trade and other payables 
are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting date. Refer to notes 1.10 
and 7.1 for accounting policies and disclosures related to financial instruments respectively. 
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4.5 Deferred revenue 
 2021 

$000 
2020 
$000 

Customer-related   
Support and maintenance on term licences 14,946 14,396 
Term licences (billed) commencing post balance date 7,284 10,000 
Support and maintenance on perpetual licenses 12,561  14,912  
Perpetual licences commencing post balance date 32 6 
Processing income  2,138  1,443  
Professional services income 3,004  1,195  
 39,965 41,952 
Tax incentive related   
Research and development 5,395 5,839  
Total deferred revenue 45,360 47,791 

 

Movements during the year of customer related deferred revenue 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Opening balance 41,952 33,017 
Revenue recognised in the current year (80,016)  (61,253) 
Non-cancellable right to invoice established during the period 79,817  70,182 
Exchange differences  (1,788)  6  
Closing balance 39,965 41,952 

 

Movements during the year of tax incentive related deferred revenue 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Opening balance 5,839 5,839 
Other income recognised in the current year (1,086) (974) 
Additional research and development incentive 642 974 
Closing balance 5,395 5,839 

 

Presentation of balances 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Current 33,832                    36,419  
Non-current 11,528                    11,372  
Total deferred revenue 45,360                    47,791  
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4.6 Provisions 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Current   
Annual leave 2,519 2,330 
Long service leave 359 334  
  2,878 2,664  
Non-current   
Long service leave 237  204  
Make good obligation 305  303  
 542  507  

 

Movements during the year 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Annual leave - current   
Opening balance 2,330 3,094 
Charged to profit or loss 189 (764) 
Closing balance 2,519 2,330 
Long service leave - current   
Opening balance 334 168 
Charged to profit or loss 25 166 
Closing balance 359 334 
Total - current 2,878  2,664  
Long service leave – non-current   
Opening balance 204 242 
Charged to profit or loss 33 (38) 
Closing balance 237  204  
Make good obligation – non-current   
Opening balance 303 302 
Charged to profit or loss 2 1 
Closing balance 305  303  
Total – non-current 542  507  
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Accounting policies – provisions 

The current portion of these liabilities represents the Group’s obligations to which the employee has a current legal 
entitlement. These liabilities arise mainly from accrued annual leave entitlements at the reporting date. A provision has 
been recognised for employee benefits relating to long service leave for employees. In calculating the present value of 
future cash outflows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based upon 
historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits have been included in Note 6.1. 

Nuix is required to restore the leased office at 1 Market Street in Sydney and Unit 17C in Cork Airport Business Park in 
Cork to the original condition at the end of the respective leases. A provision has been recognised for the present value of 
the estimated expenditure required to remove any leasehold improvements.  These costs have been capitalised as part of 
the cost of leasehold improvements and are amortised over the shorter of the term of the lease or the useful life of the 
assets. 

The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as an interest expense 

4.7 Borrowings 
 2021 

$000 
2020 
$000 

Current   
Bank loans - 25,531 

A. Secured liabilities 

Nuix Limited currently has a Facility Agreement with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia (‘CBA’) which provides 
funding to the Company through a Cash Advance Facility. Funding under the Cash Advance Facility is made 
available under two tranches, being Tranche A for AUD $40 million, and Tranche B for USD $7.5 million. 
Accordingly, the available funding under the facilities as denominated in Australian dollars fluctuates from period 
to period, with $50,000,000 being available under these facilities as of 30 June 2021 (2020: $50,943,000). The 
Company had fully paid all of these facilities as of 30 June 2021 (2020 utilisation: $25,531,000) and has not 
drawn down any additional funding since 30 June 2021 (2020: drawdown $5,697,000 ($4,000,000 USD)). 

For the abundance of caution the Company sought (and CBA agreed to) waivers of potential technical or 
administrative breaches of the Facility Agreement which may have been subsisting as at 30 June 2021 including 
a waiver, until 20 November 2021, of any breaches which may have arisen as a result of the ASIC investigation 
previously disclosed to the market and in Note 9.6. This waiver was entered into post the end of the financial 
year. The Company had fully paid all of these facilities as of 30 June 2021 and has not drawn down any additional 
funding since 30 June 2021.  

The Facility Agreement also provides for a bank guarantee facility and CBA has issued a bank guarantee under 
that facility in an amount of $746,460 to support Nuix Limited's obligations under a real property lease. Nuix 
Limited's obligations in respect of that bank guarantee are contingent only.  

Nuix Limited continues to review its various financing options and requirements, which may include restructuring 
or refinancing its existing facilities, entering into new financing arrangements with a third party and/or cancelling 
facilities entirely. 
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B. Loan covenants 

Under the terms of the loan facilities with the bank, the Group is required to comply with the following financial 
covenants every quarterly testing date: 

• Gross leverage ratio (GLR) does not exceed 1.75:1;  

• Interest cover ratio (ICR) is equal to or greater than 3.00:1; 

• Obligors own at least 95% of total assets of the Group and are responsible for at least 95% of EBITDA 
of the Group during the relevant period, 

In addition, the Borrower must hold a minimum cash balance of $10M at all times. 

The Group has complied with the financial covenants throughout the reporting periods. 

Accounting policies – borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest 
method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that 
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. 
To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised 
and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. Refer to notes 1.10 and 7.1 for accounting policies and 
disclosures related to financial instruments respectively. 

5. Non-current assets 

This section focuses on the non-current assets of the group including how management identify activities that are required 
to be capitalised, how balances have moved during the period, and how we have assessed whether there has been any 
impairment of these assets. 

Most of the non-current assets held by Nuix relate to the intellectual property embedded within the software platform that 
has been developed (the Nuix platform). This software platform comprises a powerful, proprietary, data processing engine 
(called the Nuix Engine) and several software applications. It has been developed in-house, shaped by feedback from 
long-standing government and private sector customers, and assists customers in solving many of their complex data 
challenges.  

The Nuix Engine is at the core of the Nuix platform and can be deployed at varying scales, for example, on a single laptop 
or across multiple servers depending on the volume of data that require analysis or the speed at which that analysis is to 
be delivered. A key part of the processing performed by the Nuix Engine is to “normalize data at its binary level.” The Nuix 
Engine uses parallel data processing technology to process, normalize, index, enrich and analyse data at speed and scale. 
Currently, the Nuix Engine can process over 1,000 file types, and this capability is expected to continue growing over time. 
Customers can also export data processed by the Nuix Engine to third party applications or further enrich that data, for 
example by merging data processed by the Nuix Engine with an existing database, creating an enhanced data set from 
which more informed decisions can be made. This is made possible through open application programming interfaces (or 
APIs) and connectors developed by Nuix.  

In addition to the Nuix Engine, the Nuix platform comprises a suite of visualization, analytics and relationship-mapping 
software applications (Nuix Workstation, Nuix Investigate, Nuix Endpoint and Nuix Discover) that use the outputs of the 
Nuix Engine to provide insights and intelligence to customers in many different investigative and analytical situations. 
These applications have extended and continue to extend the number of use cases for the Nuix platform and assist Nuix 
to grow into new and broader markets. 



Nuix Limited and Controlled Entities  
Financial Report 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81 

5.1 Intangible assets 
Reconciliation of carrying amount 

 Goodwill 
$’000 

External 
licenses 

$’000 
Brand 
$’000 

Intellectual 
property 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 2019      
At cost 4,422 2,111 712 199,408 206,653 
Accumulated amortisation & impairment - (1,884) - (37,135) (39,019) 
Balance at 1 July 2019 4,422  227 712 162,273 167,634  
      
Year ended 30 June 2020      
Balance at 1 July 2019 4,422  227 712 162,273 167,634  
Effect of movements in exchange rates - cost 121 36 18 1,790 1,965 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - 

accumulated amortisation & impairment - (28) - 66  38  
Additions - 24  - 51,039  51,063  
Disposals - (18) - (176)  (194) 
Amortisation -  (113) - (23,238) (23,351) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 4,543 128  730 191,754 197,155 
      
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020      
At cost 4,543  2,153  730 252,061 259,487 
Accumulated amortisation & impairment  -     (2,025) - (60,307) (62,332) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 4,543   128 730 191,754 197,155 
      
Year ended 30 June 2021      
Balance at 1 July 2020 4,543  128  730 191,754 197,155 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - cost (398) (133) (64) (8,438) (9,033) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - 

accumulated amortisation & impairment - 124 - 1,418 1,542 
Additions - 126 - 34,130 34,256 
Disposals - - - - - 
Amortisation - (134) - (26,371) (26,505) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 4,145 111 666 192,493 197,415 
      
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021      
At cost 4,145 2,146 666 277,753 284,710 
Accumulated amortisation & impairment - (2,035) - (85,260) (87,295) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 4,145 111 666 192,493 197,415 
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Accounting policies – intangible assets 

i. Development costs recorded as Intellectual Property 

Development costs are capitalised where future economic benefits from development of a chosen alternative for new or 
improved software products, processes, systems or services are considered probable, and expenditure in relation to such 
activities is capable of reliable measurement. Future economic benefits are considered probable where commercial benefit 
and technical feasibility have been established. The expenditure includes all directly attributable costs, including external 
direct costs of materials, services, direct labour and overheads. 

Other development expenditure that does not meet these criteria, which includes research activities and the expenditure 
on maintenance of computer software, is expensed as incurred.  

ii. Goodwill 

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any impairment losses. 
The cost represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired.  

iii. External software licenses 

External software licenses are carried at historic cost or fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses.  

iv. Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset 
to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill, is recognised in profit or 
loss as it is incurred. 

v. Amortisation 

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives and is recognised in profit or loss. Goodwill and brand is not amortised. 
Intangible assets, other than goodwill and brand, have finite useful lives. Goodwill has an indefinite useful life 

Class of intangible Depreciation rate (per year) 
External software 33% 
Intellectual property 10% 

 

 

Significant judgements and assumptions 

Capitalisation and useful life of intangible assets 

Management has made judgements in respect of intangible assets when assessing whether an internal project in the 
development phase meets the criteria to be capitalised, and on measuring the costs and economic life attributed to such 
projects. On acquisition, specific intangible assets are identified and amortised over their estimated useful lives. The 
capitalisation of these assets and the related charges are based on judgements about their value and economic life.  

Management has also made judgements and assumptions when assessing the economic life of intangible assets and the 
pattern of consumption of the economic benefits embodied in these assets. The economic lives for intangible assets are 
estimated at between three and ten years.  Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted, if appropriate. 
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5.2 Property and equipment 
Reconciliation of carrying amount 

 
  

Office & 
computer 

equipment 
$’000 

Furniture 
& fixtures 

$’000 

Leasehold 
improvement 

$’000 

 
Total 
$’000 

Carrying amount at 1 July 2019     
At cost 9,805 1,079 3,351 14,235 
Accumulated depreciation (8,915) (590) (2,262) (11,767) 
Balance at 1 July 2019 890 489 1,089 2,468 
     
Year ended 30 June 2020     
Balance at 1 July 2019 890 489 1,089 2,468 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - cost 162 23 47 232 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - 
accumulated depreciation (137) (8) (16) (161) 
Additions 895 12 448 1,355 
Disposals (3) - - (3) 
Depreciation (760) (188) (531) (1,479) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 1,047 328 1,037 2,412 
     
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020     
At cost 10,859 1,114 3,846 15,819 
Accumulated depreciation (9,812) (786) (2,809) (13,407) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 1,047 328 1,037 2,412 
     
Year ended 30 June 2021     
Balance at 1 July 2020 1,047 328 1,037 2,412 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - cost (653) (87) (209) (949) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - 
accumulated depreciation 603 61 131 795 
Additions 815 - 236 1,051 
Disposals - - - - 
Depreciation (712) (127) (452) (1,291) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 1,100 175 743 2,018 
     
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021     
At cost 11,021 1,027 3,873 15,921 
Accumulated depreciation (9,921) (852) (3,130) (13,903) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 1,100 175 743 2,018 

 

  

Accounting policies – property and equipment 

i. Recognition and measurement 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. If significant parts of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are 
accounted for as separate items or property and equipment. Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and 
equipment is recognised in profit and loss. 

ii. Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group. 
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5.3 Leases 
Amounts recognised in the balance sheet 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Right of use assets, net of depreciation 9,036 12,872 
   
Lease liabilities   
Current 2,635 3,704  
Non-current 8,727 11,539  
Lease liabilities 11,362 15,243 

 

Right of use assets 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Balance at 1 July 12,872 16,363 
Termination of lease, net of accumulated depreciation (6) - 
Remeasurement of ROU assets 80 - 
Depreciation expense (3,276) (3,569) 
Exchange difference (634) 78 
Balance at 30 June 9,036 12,872 

 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

iii. Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the useful lives commencing 
from the time that the assets are held ready for use. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 

Class of plant and equipment Depreciation rate (per year) 
Office and computer equipment 33% 
Furniture and fixtures 20% 
Leasehold improvements 20% or lease term whichever is shorter 

 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets  3,276 3,569 
Interest expense (included in finance cost)  573 727 
Expenses relating to short-term leases                          285  350 
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets that 
are not shown above as short-term leases                            68  15 

                       4,202  4,661 
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Accounting policies – leases 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.  

(a) As lessee 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone prices. However, for the leases of property 
the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a 
single lease component.  

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is 
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and 
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset, less any lease incentives received.  

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end 
of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term 
or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use 
asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of 
property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.  

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various financing sources and makes 
certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.  

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

• fixed payments, including in substance fixed payments; 

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 
commencement date; 

• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in 
any optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for 
early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of 
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it 
will exercise a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.  

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.  

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 

• any initial direct costs, and  
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• restoration costs. 

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
underlying asset’s useful life.  

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases, including low-value IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(b) As a lessor 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the group allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. 

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating 
lease. To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; 
if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the 
lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.  

When the Group is in intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. It 
assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not 
with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption 
described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.  

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocated consideration 
in the contract. 

5.4 Impairment testing of non-financial assets 
Key assumptions in the Group’s discounted cash flow model  

A value-in-use discounted cash flow model has been used at 30 June 2021 to determine the recoverable amount 
of the CGU, over which impairment testing is required. This model includes projected revenues, gross margins 
and expenses which have been determined with reference to historical company experience, industry data and 
management’s expectation of the future.  

The following inputs and assumptions have been adopted: 

 2021 2020 
Post-tax discount rate per annum 9.8% 9.2% 
Pre-tax discount rate per annum 14.0% 13.1% 
Long-term perpetuity growth rate 2.5% 2.5% 

 

Sensitivity Analysis 

Management has performed sensitivity analysis and assessed reasonable changes for key assumptions and has 
not identified any instances that cause the carrying amount of the CGU, over which goodwill is monitored to 
exceed its recoverable amount. 
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Accounting policies – impairment testing of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its non-financial assets (other than contract assets and 
deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.  

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business 
combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value 
in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.  

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.  

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.  

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 

Significant judgements and assumptions 

Impairment testing of goodwill 

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires judgement to allocate amounts of goodwill to CGUs and a combination 
of judgement and assumptions to estimate recoverable amounts.  

Management have determined that goodwill is required to be tested at the CGU that comprises the consolidated Group, 
on the basis that this is where goodwill is allocated and monitored.  

When Ringtail was acquired from FTI Consulting in September 2018, Nuix obtained control of the Ringtail platform (now 
Nuix Discover) which included its software assets and software engineering team. The goodwill recorded as of 30 June 
2021 solely relates to this acquisition. Management concluded as this acquisition provided a review and analytics frontend 
to the Nuix Engine, and the software assets acquired were already deeply integrated with the Nuix Engine with a closely 
aligned customer proposition to other products from the Nuix platform, that the synergies from the acquisition would be 
expected to accrete to the Nuix Group CGU. As a result, the goodwill from the Ringtail acquisition is allocated to the Nuix 
Group CGU, and no lower-level CGUs have been identified.  

The model which is used to estimate the recoverable amount, requires an estimate of the future cash flows expected to 
arise from the CGU, and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the net present value. 
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6. Remuneration 

This section focuses on the expenses recognised in relation to the remuneration of our people, which includes details of 
the employee benefit expenses recognised across the profit and loss, judgements related to accounting for share-based 
payments, and summary information for remuneration of Key Management Personnel (KMPs).  

Nuix is committed to attracting and retaining the best people to work in the organisation, including Directors and senior 
management. A key element in achieving that objective is to ensure that the Company is able to appropriately remunerate 
its key people. Nuix has adopted a Remuneration Policy, the purpose of which is to establish a framework for remuneration 
that is designed to: 

• ensure that coherent remuneration policies and practices are observed which enable the attraction and retention of 
Directors and management who will create value for Shareholders; 

• fairly and responsibly reward Directors and senior management having regard to the Company’s performance, the 
performance of senior management and the general pay environment; and 

• comply with all relevant legal and regulatory provisions.  

Refer to the Remuneration Report for detailed information related to KMPs. 

6.1 Employee benefit expenses 

 2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Wages and salaries    
 Sales and distribution1 49,303 48,961 
 Research and development1 8,977 4,271 
 General and administration 12,806 12,456 
 71,086 65,688 
Share-based payment expenses   
 Sales and distribution                   1,139  452 
 Research and development                       977  98 
 General and administration                   2,511  135 
                   4,627  685 

 

 
1 Wages and salaries expense disclosed for the research and development function (and sales and distribution function to the extent that 
those employees are involved in the testing of development activities), presented above are net of amounts required to be capitalised as 
development costs to intangible assets.  

The amount of wages and salaries capitalised as development costs to intangible assets totalled $29,245,000 during the year ended 30 June 
2021 (2020: $42,471,000), with the remaining amounts capitalised being directly attributable costs and incremental overheads of 
development activities. 
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Accounting policies – employee benefit expenses 

i. Short term obligations 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of 
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. 

The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit 
obligations are presented as payables. 

ii. Defined contribution superannuation plans 

All obligations for contributions in respect of employees’ defined contribution benefits are recognised as an expense as the 
related service is provided.  

iii. Other long-term employee benefits obligations 

The liability for long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of 
the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and 
measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 
to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on high-quality corporate bond rates with terms to maturity and 
currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated cash flows.  

iv. Share-based payments 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Nuix Employee Share Option Plans. The fair values 
of options granted under the Employee Share Option Plans are recognised as a share-based payments expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
options granted, which includes the impact of any non-vesting conditions.  

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. The 
total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions 
are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

 

6.2 Share based payments 

 Instruments on issue 30 Jun 2021  30 Jun 2020 
Options  4,827,141 39,654,623 
Performance Rights 643,273 - 
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 Options Performance Rights 

Reconciliation 
1 Jul 2020 to  
30 Jun 2021 

1 Jul 2019 to 
30 Jun 2020 

1 Jul 2020 to 
30 Jun 2021 

1 Jul 2019 to 
30 Jun 2020 

Opening balance (1 July) 39,654,623 41,154,823 - - 
Grant under ESOP 3,315,627 349,800 - - 
Cancellation (38,961,508) - - - 
Forfeitures (343,186) (1,850,000) - - 
Grant to NEDs  500,000 - - - 
Grant under LTIP  671,585 - - - 
Performance rights granted - - 643,2731 - 
Exercised options (10,000) - - - 
Closing balance (30 June) 4,827,141 39,654,623 643,273 - 

A. Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) 

The establishment of the Nuix Limited ESOP was approved by the Board of Directors on or around fiscal year 
2012. The ESOP is designed to align the interests of eligible employees more closely with shareholders and 
provide greater motivation and incentive for them to focus on the Company’s longer-term goals. Under the plan, 
participants are granted options which may only be exercised if the Relevant Requirement has been met.  

Participation in the plan is at the Board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the 
plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits. 

Options are granted under the plan for no consideration and carry no dividend or voting rights and are non-
statutory stock options. Option holders cannot assign, transfer, sell or otherwise deal with the options granted 
under the Plan without Board of Directors approval. 

The amount of Options that vest depends upon the vesting rules of the respective Plan rules (generally three to 
five years). The Options vest in a series of successive equal monthly instalments beginning on the first 
anniversary of the vesting commencement date, subject to the option holders’ continued employment. 

Once vested, the options became exercisable following the consummation of a Corporate Transaction / Liquidity 
Event (as defined in the Plan rules) or a date determined by the Board. However, under some earlier Plan rules, 
Options are exercisable for a period of three years once they become fully vested.  

Following the exercise of the options, a vested option is converted into one ordinary share within a certain number 
of business days as determined by the plan rules. The exercise price of options is determined by a combination 
of internal and external valuation methodologies and presided over by the Board.  

B. Grant to Non-Executive Directors 

Jeffrey Bleich and Iain Lobban were each granted 250,000 options, which vested on IPO completion.  

C. Grant under LTIP 

On IPO completion the senior management team were granted 671,585 options.  

The total number of options that will vest will depend on whether Nuix meets minimum revenue and EBITDA 
targets in respect of FY23, as set by the Board. Vesting for 50% of the options will be tested against a revenue 
target and vesting for 50% of the options will be tested against an EBITDA target. One third of the vested options 
will be exercisable upon the release of the Company’s financial results for each of FY23, FY24 and FY25.  

The options that vest will become exercisable at $5.31 per option, subject to Nuix’s Securities Trading Policy. 
Options that do not vest will not be exercisable. Options will expire after seven years of the date of the grant of 
options. Vesting and exercise of options is also subject to the rules of the Nuix Incentive Plan, including relating 
to continuing employment. 

 
1 Performance Rights lapsed in August 2021 upon release of the Preliminary Final Report. 
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D. Fair value of options granted 

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2021 ranged between 
$1.31 and $2.98. The fair value of each grant at grant date is independently determined using an adjusted form 
of the Black Scholes Model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution 
(where material), the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected 
dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option and the correlations and volatilities of the peer 
group companies. Options are granted for no consideration and vest over different periods depending on terms. 

The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2021 included: - 

  30 Jun 2021 
ESOP grants 

31 Dec 2020 
NED options 

31 Dec 2020 
LTIP 

31 Dec 2019 
ESOP grants 

Exercise price $3.00 & $5.79 $5.01 $5.31 $2.40 

Grant date 18 Nov 2020 
& 8 Mar 2021 30 Sep 2020 18 Nov 2020 Generally tied to 

employee’s hire date 

Expiry date 7 years after grant 
date 30 Sep 2023 7 years after grant 

date 

7 and 10 years after 
grant date for 

Australian and 
overseas employees 

respectively 

Share price fair value  $5.31 
& $4.70 $5.31 $5.31 $2.40 

Expected price 
volatility of the 
Company’s shares 

42.00% for each 
grant date 42.00% 42.00% 19.55% 

Expected dividend 
yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Risk-free interest 
rate 0.94% & 0.78% 0.87% 0.94% 1.65% 

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility of comparable listed companies (based on the 
remaining life of the options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available 
information. 

E. Fair value of performance rights granted 

The assessed fair value at grant date of the performance rights granted during was determined with reference to 
the fair value of shares on grant date, adjusted for any expected dividend included in the share price as of grant 
date. As there were no dividends expected to be paid between grant date and vesting date no adjustment to the 
share price on grant date is required in determining the fair value of performance rights. 

As the non-market performance conditions associated the grant of the performance rights have not been met, 
and the service commencement date related to these share-based payments was within this financial year, the 
performance rights have had no impact on profit or loss for the full year. 

F. Reconciliation of outstanding share options 

 1 Jul 2020 to 30 Jun 2021 1 Jul 2019 to 30 Jun 2020 

Reconciliation 
Number of 

options  
Weighted-

average price 
Number of 

options 
Weighted-

average price 
Opening balance (1 July) 39,654,623 $0.84 41,154,823 $0.84 
Cancellation (38,961,508) $0.84 - - 
Granted during the year 4,487,212 $5.47 349,800 $2.40 
Forfeitures during the year (343,186) $4.50 (1,850,000) $1.40 
Exercised options (10,000) $5.01 - - 
Outstanding at 30 June  4,827,141 $5.03 39,654,623 $0.84 
Exercisable at 30 June Nil n/a 36,046,274 $0.70 
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The options outstanding at 30 June 2021 had an exercise price in the range of $2.00 to $5.79 (2020: weighted 
average $0.71) and a weighted-average contractual life of 5.7 years (2020: 2.0 years). 

Accounting policies – share-based payments 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Nuix Employee Share Option Plans. The fair values 
of options granted under the Employee Share Option Plans are recognised as a share-based payments expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
options granted, which includes the impact of any non-vesting conditions.  

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. The 
total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions 
are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

6.3 KMP Remuneration 

  2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Short-term employee benefits 2,425,667  1,883,202  
Termination benefits 197,083 - 
Post-employment benefits 64,743  76,505  
Long-term benefits 39,269  84,699  
Share-based payment expense 1,927,356 238,803 
Total 4,457,035 2,283,209 

Short-term employee benefits  

These amounts include salaries, fees, cash bonuses and fringe benefits paid to Key Management Personnel including 
executive and non-executive Directors. 

Post-employment benefits  

These amounts include the cost of superannuation contributions made during the year.  

Other long-term benefits  

These amounts represent long service leave and long-term annual leave benefits accruing during the year. 

7. Financial risks 

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks relating to its use of debt and working capital. This section 
presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of these risks, and its objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk. 

7.1 Financial risk management 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including:  

• market risk (including currency risk and price risk), 

• credit risk, and 

• liquidity risk   

The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods 
to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed.  These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case 
of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks and ageing analysis for credit risk to determine market 
risk.  Risk management is carried out by the corporate finance department under policies approved by the Board 
of Directors.   
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The Company has principles for overall risk management covering areas such as foreign exchange risk, credit 
risk and derivative financial instruments.   

A. Market risk 

i. Foreign exchange risk 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the United States dollar, British Pound and European Euro. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a 
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.  The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow 
forecasting.  Management has set up a policy requiring Group companies to manage their foreign exchange risk 
against their functional currency.  

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in thousands of 
Australian dollars, was as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 USD EURO GBP USD EURO GBP 
Cash and cash equivalents 7,066 14,333 4,212 16,774 6,869  5,062  
Trade receivables 3,848 1,392 612 4,266  614  405  
Trade payables 83 113 26 148  210  8  

 

The Group’s exposure to other foreign exchange movements is not considered material. 

Sensitivity 

As shown in the table above, the Group is primarily exposed to changes in USD exchange rates.  The sensitivity 
of profit or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly from US-dollar.  Impact on profit after tax of +/- 
10% change of USD against AUD in relation to the financial assets and liabilities recognised on balance sheet 
as of 30 June would result in an increase / (decrease) of $1,083,000/ ($1,083,000) for the fiscal year ended 30 
June 2021 (2020: $2,089,000/ ($2,089,000)). 

B. Credit risk 

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.  Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks 
and financial institutions and outstanding receivables, contract assets and committed transactions.   

For all customers in all instances the Group retains title over the software.  A full-term license key to use the 
software is not issued until full payment is received, thus reducing risk of impairment to accounts receivable.  
Compliance with credit limits for wholesale customers are regularly monitored by Group Finance. Sales to retail 
customers are required to be settled by using major credit cards, mitigating credit risk. There are no significant 
concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific industry sectors and/or 
regions. 

Trade receivables and contract assets 

The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. 

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled receivables and 
have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The 
Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation 
of the loss rates for the contract assets. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before 30 June 
2020 and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are 
adjusted to reflect current and forward- looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the 
customers to settle the receivables.  
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On that basis, the loss allowance as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020, expressed in thousands of Australian 
dollars was determined as follows for both trade receivables and contract assets: 

 2021 2020 

 Balance 
‘000 

Expected  
Loss Rate 

Loss 
Allowance 

‘000 
Balance 

‘000 
Expected  

Loss Rate 

Loss 
Allowance 

‘000 
Current 25,017 0.9% 218 26,196 0.1% 31  
30 days 2,639 1.4% 38 3,238  1.5% 50  
60 days 524 5.4% 28 3,129  3.9% 123  
90 days 435 11.2% 49 989  6.9% 69  
Over 90 days 1,045 17.3% 181 1,639  10.6% 173  
Specific provision 1 694 100.0% 694 - - - 
Total  30,354  1,208 35,191  446 
Unbilled receivables 44,452 0.8% 357 25,483 0.1% 24 
Total  74,806  1,565 60,674  470 

The loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets as at 30 June reconcile to the opening loss 
allowances as follows: 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

As at 1 July 470 456 
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year 2,225 1,082  
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (1,058) (1,076) 
Unused amount reversed -  8  
Foreign exchange difference (72) -  
As at 30 June 1 1,565 470  

 

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off where there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to 
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater 
than 120 days past due. Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net 
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the same line item. 

C. Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the 
availability of funding through adequate committed credit facilities (Note 4.7) to meet financial obligations as and 
when they fall due.  At the end of the reporting period the Group held deposits at call of $70,865,000 (2020: 
$38,539,000).  

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve as discussed above and cash and cash 
equivalents (Note 4.1) on the basis of forecasted cash flows.  This is carried out at a Group level by Corporate 
Finance.  In addition, the Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies 
and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these and monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios 
against internal requirements. 

The below page analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their 
contractual maturities for all non-derivative financial liabilities.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows.  Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact 
of discounting is not considered material. 

 
1 As at 30 June 2021 there were $694,000 of specifically identified impaired debtors, that have been provided for but not written off. As at 
30 June 2020, all specifically identified bad debtors had been provided for and written off. 
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Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities 

Less than 
6 months 

$000 

6-12 
months 

$000 

Between 
1-3 years 

$000 

More than 
3 years 

$000 
Total 
$000 

Carrying 
amount 

$000 
At 30 June 2020       
Trade payables 6,770 - - - 6,770 6,770  
Lease liabilities 2,351  1,947 7,971 4,966  17,235  15,243  
Borrowings 26,555  - -  -    26,555  25,531  
 35,676 1,947  7,971 4,966  50,560  47,544 
At 30 June 2021       
Trade payables 5,846 - - - 5,846 5,846 
Lease liabilities 1,630 1,343 6,765 2,567 12,305 11,359 
 7,476 1,343 6,765 2,567 18,151 17,205 

D. Fair value measurements 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or 
for disclosure purposes. The carrying amounts of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to 
the Group for similar financial instruments. The fair value of borrowings approximates the carrying amount, as 
the impact of discounting is not significant. 

8. Business structure 

This section focuses on the structure of the group, specifically movements in issued capital and reserves. 

8.1 Issued capital 

Movements in ordinary shares  2021 Shares 2020 Shares 
2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Opening balance 265,400,633 265,400,633 104,227 104,227 
Shares issued on IPO, net of costs 51,904,161 - 275,611 - 
Shares issued on option exercise 10,000 - 50 - 
Transaction costs arising from issue of 
shares, net of tax - - (9,192) - 

Closing balance 317,314,794 265,400,633 370,696 104,227 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds upon winding up of the Company, proportionately to 
the shareholding. At the shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, 
otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. The issued shares do not have a par value. 

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain an appropriate debt to equity ratio, provide the 
shareholders with returns and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern. 
The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. 
There are no externally imposed capital requirements aside from debt covenants. Management effectively 
manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in 
response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the management of debt levels, 
distributions to shareholders and share issues. 

8.2 Reserves 
Foreign currency translation reserve 

The Foreign Currency Translation Reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations. 
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Share-based payment reserve 

A total of 38,961,408 options were cancelled on completion of the offer for cash (calculated as the Offer Price 
less the exercise price of the options). The Company has concluded that on 18 November 2020 when the 
Prospectus was published, option holders would consider it being more probable than not that their share-based 
payment arrangements would be cash settled (for an aggregate sum of $175,614,000).  

On the basis that part of the service period was outstanding and being performed between 18 November 2020 
and listing on 4 December 2020, a portion of the amount for which the options were cancelled ($574,000) is 
recognised in profit and loss as a cash settled share-based payment.  

A portion of these option cancellation payments have been made to employees of the group. Through operation 
of various legislative requirements for the relevant jurisdictions of their employment, certain of these payments 
are subject to PAYG withholding obligations for employee personal taxation arrangements and other oncosts 
related to their employment relationship with the Group. These oncosts primarily related to payroll tax and 
amounted to $1,778,000 (2020: nil) which has been recognised in profit and loss. 

 

Movements in reserves 
2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Share option reserve    
As at 1 July                   (654)                (1,339) 
Share-based payment arrangements 4,053                     685  
Cancellation of options (175,040)                       -    
As at 30 June   (171,641)                   (654) 
   

Foreign currency translation reserve   

As at 1 July                 5,797                 3,988  
Foreign currency translation reserve  (8,478)                 1,809  
As at 30 June   (2,681)                 5,797  
Total Reserves (174,322) 5,143 

9. Other 

This section provides information that is not directly related to specific line items in the financial statements, including 
information about dividends, related party transactions, auditor’s remuneration, events after the reporting date and other 
statutory information. 

9.1 Dividends 
During the year the Directors did not declare an interim dividend (2020: Nil) and have not recommended a final 
dividend be paid after 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil). 

9.2 Related party disclosures 

A. Parent entity 

The ultimate and parent entity within the Group is Nuix Limited. 
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B. Interests in other entities 

Name of entity 

Place of 
business/ 
country of 

incorporation 
Ownership interest 
held by the Group 

Ownership 
interest held by 
non-controlling 

interests Principal activities 
  2021 2020 2021 2020  
Nuix North America, Inc USA 100% 100% - - Sale of Software 
Nuix Ireland Ltd Ireland 100% 100% - - Sale of Software 
Nuix Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100% - - Sale of Software 
Nuix Holding Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% - - Holding Company 
Nuix SaleCo Limited Australia 100% - - - Holding Company 
Nuix USG Inc.  USA 100% 100% - - Sale of Software 
Nuix Technology UK Ltd UK 100% 100% - - Sale of Software 
Nuix Philippines ROHQ Philippines 100% 100% - - Business Support 

C. Option cancellation payments made to Key Management Personnel 

Of the 38,961,508 options cancelled during the year, 9,400,000 options were held by KMPs at the time. The total 
value of the option cancellation payments made to option holders who were KMPs at the time of the payment 
was $34,816,750. 

D. Transactions with other related parties 

Macquarie Corporate Holdings 

Macquarie Corporate Holdings has an interest of 30% in Nuix (2020: 66%), which allows it to exercise significant 
influence over the Group. As a result, Macquarie Corporate Holdings and by extension all related entities of 
Macquarie Group Limited, are related parties to Nuix. 

Nuix entered into an Underwriting Agreement with Macquarie Capital (Australia) Limited and Morgan Stanley 
Australia Limited as Joint Lead Managers in relation to the IPO. The terms of this agreement were that the 
Company pay the Joint Lead Managers an underwriting fee of 1.60%, and a management and selling fee of 
0.40% of the Offer proceeds. Additionally, the agreement provides that Nuix may also, in its absolute discretion, 
pay to one or both of the Joint Lead Managers an incentive fee of up to 1.00% of the total Offer proceeds. The 
agreement also provides that the Company has agreed to reimburse the Joint Lead Managers for costs and 
expenses incurred by the Joint Lead Managers in relation to the Offer. 

Amounts paid to Macquarie Capital (Australia) Limited in relation to the Underwriting Agreement (excluding any 
reimbursement for costs and expenses incurred by the Joint Lead Managers in relation to the Offer) are disclosed 
below (excluding GST). 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

 Transaction Outstanding 
balance Transaction Outstanding 

balance 
Sale and purchases of goods and services     
Underwriting fees 14,462,295 - - - 
Sale of goods to other related parties - 8 46,296 4,705 
Support and maintenance 1 112,083 - 112,083 - 
Purchase of service from other related party 36,215 - 676   -  

Daniel Phillips and David Standen 

Nuix has not been charged any fees in relation to the remuneration of Daniel Phillips or David Standen.  

 
1 Portion of total transaction value from the sale of a subscription licence disclosed in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2019 which was allocated to the support and maintenance performance obligations and is required to be recognised over time.  
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Dr. Anthony Castagna – reimbursement of fees for legal advice related to the IPO 

In August 2020, each major shareholder (including Blackall Limited) was requested to provide certain information 
relevant to potential disclosure in the IPO Prospectus, and their respective capacities to deal in the shareholder’s 
Nuix shares both for the IPO and a possible trade sale. Blackall Limited is a New Zealand incorporated company 
and legal and beneficial owner at the time of the IPO Prospectus of shares and options related to Nuix, which 
are ultimately owned by Delrick Limited, a company limited by guarantee incorporated in Vanuatu which 
maintains a retirement fund for Nuix co-founder Dr Anthony Castagna. 

These were complex issues, for which legal advice was obtained by Blackall Limited, that enabled appropriate 
disclosure to be made in the IPO Prospectus. It was agreed that these fees totalling $122,022 would be 
reimbursed on that basis.  

9.3 Auditors’ remuneration 

  2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia (Auditors of the Group)   
Audit of financial reports   
 Audit of financial reports 1,159,158  300,000  
Other statutory assurance services   
 Other assurance services 3,381,607  42,785  
Total for audit and other assurance  4,540,765  342,785  
Other services   
 Tax advisory services 645,743 19,866  
 Tax compliance services 14,760 8,415 
Total for other non-audit services 660,503  28,281  
Total for PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 5,201,268  371,066  
   
Other auditors and their related network firms   
Audit and review of financial statements 68,623 75,284 
Other statutory assurance services 89,832 620 
Total services provided by other auditors  158,455  75,904  

It is the Group’s policy to engage PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia on assignments in addition to their statutory 
audit duties where their expertise and experience with the Group are relevant. The other assurance services in 
the current year primarily related to PricewaterhouseCoopers role as Investigating Accountant.  

9.4 Parent or the Company financial information 

  2021 
$000 

2020 
$000 

Current assets 89,397  42,550 
Non-current assets             205,763  198,277  
Total assets             295,160  240,827  
Current liabilities 24,669    42,218  
Non-current liabilities                 2,645  12,700  
Total liabilities               27,314  54,918  
Net assets 267,846  185,909  
Equity   
Issued capital             370,696  104,227 
Retained earnings               68,782  82,327  
Reserves           (171,632)  (645) 
Total equity 267,846 185,909  
   
(Loss) / profit for the year (13,546) 19,862 
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Determining the parent entity financial information 

The financial information for the parent entity has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial 
statements, except in so far as investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost. 

9.5 Contingencies 
On the basis that Group has determined the below matters to be contingent liabilities, no liabilities have been 
recognised in the financial statements in relation to these matters.  

Sheehy litigation 

In November 2019, Nuix compromised a claim and formal proceedings brought by former CEO, Eddie Sheehy 
under which Nuix agreed to consent to a form of declaration proffered by Mr Sheehy being made by the Supreme 
Court of NSW in the form of Judgment. Pursuant to that compromise, the Supreme Court made a declaration 
that ‘453,273 options granted over unissued shares of Nuix held by Mr Sheehy are exercisable on the occurrence 
of a sale of [Nuix's] business’ in accordance with an options agreement between the parties made in September 
2008 (the Judgment). In accordance with the Judgment, Nuix's options register records that Mr Sheehy holds 
453,273 options, each over one share at an exercise price of $2.00 per option and without an expiry date. 

Despite the 2019 Judgment, on 23 October 2020 Mr Sheehy commenced proceedings against Nuix in the Federal 
Court of Australia alleging that Nuix has acted inconsistently with the terms of the 2008 options agreement and 
has acted in an oppressive, unfairly prejudicial, unfairly discriminatory and/or unconscionable way against him. 
Mr Sheehy seeks orders to the effect that a sale of business for the purposes of the 2008 options agreement has 
occurred and that he is now entitled to exercise, and has validly exercised on 27 January 2021, his 453,273 
options in return for 22,663,650 shares in Nuix as a result of a 1 for 50 share split conducted by Nuix in March 
2017. Mr Sheehy alleges that it was an implied term of his 2008 options agreement with Nuix that ‘if the shares 
of [Nuix] were split by a particular divisor, upon exercise of the options [Mr Sheehy] would be issued with the 
number of shares set out in the 2008 Option Agreement multiplied by the divisor, and that the exercise price of 
the options would be the exercise price divided by the divisor’. 

Mr Sheehy seeks declarations as to his alleged entitlements, compensation and damages. 

Nuix rejects Mr Sheehy’s claim in its entirety and is defending the proceedings. In particular, Nuix maintains that 
the dispute was properly compromised and validly determined by the Judgment issued by the NSW Supreme 
Court in 2019 and it is not open for Mr Sheehy to seek to re-litigate the issue, that Mr Sheehy’s options were not 
the subject of the 2017 share split as a result of the express terms of the 2008 option agreement and that, in any 
event, no ‘sale of the business’ of the kind contemplated by the parties in the 2008 options agreement has 
occurred with the effect that none of Mr Sheehy’s options are presently exercisable at all. 

The matter is not yet scheduled for a hearing. 

If Mr Sheehy’s new claim were successful, it may result in an additional 22,210,377 shares becoming issuable in 
relation to Nuix’s equity-based compensation schemes and/or a potential damages payment. The damages 
sought by Mr Sheehy have not yet been specified by him. On 27 January 2021, Mr Sheehy purported to exercise 
his 453,273 options in respect of 22,663,650 Nuix shares. Nuix does not accept that any options held by Mr 
Sheehy are currently exercisable and the purported exercise was declined. While Mr Sheehy has not articulated 
the amount of damages or compensation he seeks, if he was to be successful in establishing his claims, damages 
are likely to be calculated by reference to the value of the opportunity Mr Sheehy may have had to be issued with 
22,663,650 shares following his 27 January 2021 purported exercise of options versus the value of those shares 
at the time of any judgment in the proceedings. If Mr Sheehy was to be unsuccessful in relation to his claims, he 
would not be entitled to any payment from Nuix. 

ASIC Investigation 

As previously disclosed to the market (most recently on 2 September 2021), ASIC is conducting an investigation 
in relation to potential contraventions of the Corporations Act concerning Nuix. ASIC’s investigations relevantly 
concern: 1) the financial statements of Nuix Limited for the period ending 30 June 2018, 30 June 2019 and 30 
June 2020; 2) Nuix’s prospectus dated 18 November 2020; and 3) Nuix’s market disclosure in the period between 
the period 4 December 2020 to 31 May 2021. Nuix remains confident that it has complied with its accounting and 
disclosure obligations. 
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Nuix has not received any indication of what (if any) action ASIC may take following the conclusion of any 
investigation. 

Class Action Risk 

In the period since Nuix was listed on the ASX, it has become aware of various media reports of class actions 
law firms considering potential class actions against Nuix in relation to its prospectus or market disclosure. No 
claim of that nature has yet been filed and no party has made any contact with Nuix in relation to any such claim. 
Nuix remains confident that it has complied with its accounting and disclosure obligations. 

Bank guarantee 

The Company has obtained a bank guarantee in the amount of $746,460 to secure certain obligations of the 
Company that arise under a commercial property lease.  

 

Accounting policies – contingent liabilities 

A provision is recognised when: 

• there is a legal or constructive obligation arising from past events or, in cases of doubt over the existence of an 
obligation (e.g. a court case), when it is more likely than not that a legal or constructive obligation has arisen from a 
past event; 

• it is more likely than not that there will be an outflow of benefits; and 

• the amount can be estimated reliably. 

In some cases, it may be disputed whether certain events have occurred or, particularly in the case of a legal claim, it may 
be disputed whether there is an obligation even if it is clear that there is a past event. In such cases of uncertainty, a past 
event is deemed to give rise to a present obligation if, after taking account of all available evidence, it is more likely than 
not that a present obligation exists at the reporting date. Otherwise, such an obligation is a contingent liability.    

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position except for certain contingent liabilities that 
are assumed in a business combination. Contingent liabilities are reviewed continuously to assess whether an outflow of 
resources has become probable. If the recognition criteria are met, then a liability is recognised in the statement of financial 
position in the period in which the change in probability occurs.  

If a present obligation relates to a past event, the possibility of an outflow is probable and a reliable estimate can be made, 
then the obligation is not a contingent liability, but instead is a liability for which a provision is required to be recognised.  

Contingent liabilities are disclosed unless the likelihood of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 

 

 
  

Significant judgements and assumptions 

Assessing whether past events give rise to present obligations 

In determining the accounting for matters where there is a potential outflow of benefits, the key judgements and 
assumptions required to be made relate to whether an obligation has arisen.  

Where on balance it has not been determined that it is more likely than not that a present obligation for an outflow of 
benefits exists at reporting date, such a liability is a contingent liability. 

As contingent liabilities are generally not recognised in the statement of financial position (except for those assumed in a 
business combination), concluding that it is not more likely than not that a present obligation does exist, has the result that 
no accounting entries are booked and there is no impact reported in profit or loss.   
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9.6 Events after the reporting date 
As previously disclosed to the market (most recently on 2 September 2021), Nuix understands that ASIC is 
conducting an investigation in relation to potential contraventions of the Corporations Act concerning Nuix.  Nuix 
understands that ASIC’s investigations relevantly concern: 1) the financial statements of Nuix Limited for the 
period ending 30 June 2018, 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020; 2) Nuix’s prospectus dated 18 November 2020; 
and 3) Nuix’s market disclosure in the period between the period 4 December 2020 to 31 May 2021. Nuix remains 
confident that it has complied with its accounting and disclosure obligations. Nuix has not received any indication 
of what (if any) action ASIC may take following the conclusion of any investigation. 

As noted in Note 4.7 of this report, for the abundance of caution Nuix has obtained waivers from CBA of potential 
technical or administrative breaches of CBA Facility Agreement (which was initially entered into in 2014), 
including a waiver until 20 November 2021 of any breaches which may have arisen as a result of the ASIC 
investigation. This waiver was entered into post the end of the financial year. The Company had fully paid all of 
those facilities as of 30 June 2021 and has not drawn down any additional funding since 30 June 2021. Nuix 
Limited continues to review its various financing options and requirements, which may include restructuring or 
refinancing its existing facilities, entering into new financing arrangements with a third party and/or cancelling 
facilities entirely. 

On 13 September 2021, the Group announced that it has entered into an agreement to acquire all the shares in 
Topos Labs, Inc. (Topos) a developer of Natural Language Processing (NLP) software that helps computer 
systems better understand text and spoken words at speed and scale. The initial cost of the acquisition is USD 
$5 million on financial close, with the potential for a further USD $20 million comprised of USD $18.5m cash 
payable to the sellers of the shares in Topos, and up to USD $1.5 million in performance rights payable over 30 
months.  

The performance rights are granted to certain Topos team members who join Nuix and continue to provide 
services to Nuix during the period between closing and at the time of conversion of the performance rights. The 
additional cash consideration is only payable, and the performance rights will only convert into ordinary shares, 
on achievement of revenue, staff retention and product development milestones, each of which relate directly to 
the further development of the Artificial Intelligence driven NLP platform and its successful integration into the 
Nuix environment.  
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Directors’ Declaration 

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Nuix Limited, we state that: 

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Nuix Limited (the ‘Company’): 

a) the consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 50 to 101 and the 

Remuneration Report on pages 24 to 49, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its 

performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

2. The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001  

from the chief executive officer and chief financial officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

3. The Directors draw attention to Note 1.2 to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a 

statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

SIGNED: 

 

 

 

Jeffrey Bleich 

Chairman 

Sydney, Australia 

30 September 2021 
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Independent auditor’s report 
To the members of Nuix Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of Nuix Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities (together 
the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

What we have audited 
The Group financial report comprises: 

● the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021 
● the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended 
● the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
● the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
● the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory information 
● the directors’ declaration. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 



 

 

Our audit approach 
An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates. 

The principal activities of the Group continue to be the development and distribution of software. 

 

Materiality Audit scope Key audit matters 

● For the purpose of our audit 
we used overall Group 
materiality of $1.5 million, 
which represents 
approximately 5% of the 
Group’s profit before tax, 
adjusted for the Initial Public 
Offering (‘IPO’) related costs.  

● We applied this threshold, 
together with qualitative 
considerations, to determine 
the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and to 
evaluate the effect of 
misstatements on the 
financial report as a whole. 

● We chose Group profit before 
tax because, in our view, it is 
the benchmark against which 
the performance of the Group 
is most commonly measured.  
We adjusted for the impact of 
IPO-related costs as these are 

● Our audit focused on where the 
Group made subjective 
judgements; for example, 
significant accounting 
estimates involving 
assumptions and inherently 
uncertain future events. 

● The Group operates across the 
Americas, Europe and the Asia 
Pacific region. The Group head 
office is based in Sydney.  

● Amongst other relevant 
topics, we communicated the 
following key audit matters to 
the Audit and Risk 
Committee: 

− Revenue recognition 

− Development costs 
recorded as intellectual 
property assets 

− Accounting for IPO and 
related transactions 

− Share based payments 

− Claims and contingencies 

− Uncertain tax positions 

− Impairment assessment 
of intangible assets      

● These are further described in 
the Key audit matters section 
of our report. 



 

 

infrequently occurring items 
impacting profit and loss.  

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context.  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Revenue recognition (note 2.1)  

The Group used a model to determine stand-alone 
prices and allocate revenue for multiple element 
contracts and then recognised revenue according to 
the accounting policy for each revenue stream. 

Revenue recognition for multiple element contracts 
was a key audit matter due to its financial significance 
and the judgements and assumptions required to 
determine the stand-alone selling prices. 

Revenue recognition for partners was a key audit 
matter due to the judgements and assumptions 
required to determine whether the partner or the end 
user is the customer for accounting purposes.  

We performed the following procedures, amongst 
others: 

● Developed an understanding of and 
evaluated the design effectiveness of the key 
systems underpinning each of the material 
revenue streams and the relevant business 
process controls. 

● Evaluated the Group’s standalone selling 
price allocation methodology for each 
material revenue stream to assess whether 
the resulting revenue recognition was in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

● Tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
model used to allocate contractual value for 
software licence, maintenance and support 
performance obligations and obtained 
supporting documents, such as contracts and 
software licence agreements for the 
assumptions and data used in the model. 

● On a sample basis, obtained key supporting 
documentation such as contracts and 
software agreements, to check that the 
transactions occurred and that they were 
recognised in accordance with the Group’s 
revenue recognition policy. 

● For a sample of transactions, obtained 
supporting documentation such as contracts 
and agreements to evaluate termination 
rights which could impact the recognition of 
revenue. 



 

 

● With respect to sales made via the reseller 
channel, evaluated the appropriateness of 
accounting judgements relating to the 
determination of revenue by obtaining key 
supporting documentation.  

● Evaluated whether revenue was recorded in 
the correct period by obtaining supporting 
documents for a sample of transactions that 
were recorded during a defined risk period 
before and after year end. 

● Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in 
light of the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Development costs recorded as intellectual 
property assets (note 5.1) 

Capitalisation of software development costs was a 
key audit matter due to: 

● the judgement required in determining 
which activities undertaken by the Group 
under their agile software development 
approach are required to be capitalised 

● the significance of the level of development 
costs being capitalised 

● the judgement required about the allocation 
of costs attributable to activities that are 
required to be capitalised, a key input of 
which is data from key software 
development work management systems. 
 

Together with PwC IT specialists, we performed the 
following procedures, amongst others: 

● Assessed the Group’s accounting policies and 
methodology using our knowledge of the 
business and through discussions with 
various stakeholders, including those in the 
research & development (R&D) function. 

● Developed an understanding of and 
evaluated the Group’s relevant R&D 
processes and how the R&D team uses key 
software development work management 
systems to record their activities. 

● Developed an understanding of and 
evaluated the design effectiveness of the IT 
general controls over relevant systems. 

● Assessed how the Group calculated the 
capitalisation rate for salaries and wages and 
other costs including: 
- Obtaining an understanding of the 

nature of activities, task descriptions 
and classifications used in the Group’s 
systems 

- Investigating the nature of activities and 
tasks through enquiry of the relevant 
product managers 

- Assessing if the costs meet the criteria in 
Australian Accounting Standards for 
capitalisation. 

● Assessed the reliability of the system 
generated report used by the Group in 
determining the capitalisation rate. 



 

 

● For a sample of salaries and wages data used 
to determine the amount of capitalised 
software development costs, obtained 
relevant pay slips to check the amounts and 
classification of the employees as R&D 
personnel.  

Accounting for IPO and related transactions 
(note 2.3, 8.1 & 8.2) 

The Group has recognised IPO transaction costs in 
profit and loss and in equity for the year ended 30 
June 2021.  

During the year, the Group completed an IPO and 
became listed on the Australian Stock Exchange 
(ASX), raising funds through the issue of ordinary 
shares. 

At around the same time, certain share options were 
cancelled for cash consideration.   

Under Australian Accounting Standards, the Group 
had to determine when the share options’ 
classification changed from ‘equity settled’ to ‘cash 
settled’ and this required judgement about when the 
constructive obligation to deliver cash to option 
holders arises.  Following this date, the difference 
between the unamortised fair value at grant date and 
the cash payment is recognised in profit and loss.   

The option cancellation also results in withholding tax 
and there was judgement needed regarding the 
accounting treatment of the withholding tax, as well 
as the tax deductibility of these options. 

In addition, the Group incurred significant 
transaction costs in relation to the IPO, the treatment 
of which required judgement regarding the allocation 
of these costs between equity and expenses under 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

The Group’s accounting for the option cancellation 
payments and transaction costs related to the IPO was 
a key audit matter as they both involved significant 
judgement by the Group.  

Our procedures over the IPO related transactions 
included the following, amongst others: 

● With respect to the IPO, agreed the cash 
received on share issue, and cash payments 
made upon cancellation of options to the 
Group’s bank statements. 

● For a sample of transaction costs, obtained 
relevant invoices to assess the allocation of 
the IPO transaction costs between expenses 
and equity and whether they were accounted 
for in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

● Developed an understanding of the Group’s 
determination of the date on which the share 
options were re-classified as ‘cash settled’ 
and obtained supporting evidence such as 
board minutes, communication to employees 
and cancellation agreements with 
employees. 

● Together with PwC tax experts: 
- Developed an understanding of the 

withholding tax payments made in 
connection with the option cancellation 
payments and evaluated whether they 
were accounted for appropriately in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

- Evaluated and assessed the Group’s 
treatment in respect of deductibility of 
the IPO transaction costs and the option 
cancellation payments. 

● Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in 
light of the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards. 



 

 

Share-based payments (note 6.2) 

Accounting for share-based payments was a key audit 
matter due to the judgements required in determining 
the grant date and key valuation input assumptions.   

Together with PwC valuations experts, our procedures 
over share-based payments expense included the 
following, amongst others: 

● We tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
model and, assessed the share-based 
payment models and key assumptions (such 
as volatility rates) used to determine the fair 
value of the share-based payment options.  

● Assessed whether the share-based payments 
were recognised in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards by 
agreeing on a sample basis for grants, 
forfeitures and accelerations to award letters 
issued and other relevant documents during 
the period. 

● Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in 
light of the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards.   

 
Claims and contingencies (note 9.5)  

The Sheehy litigation was a key audit matter because 
the outcome is uncertain and the Group has used 
judgement in determining the appropriate financial 
reporting outcome with respect to an unresolved 
claim relating to the options held by a former key 
management personnel (KMP). 

 

Our procedures over claims and contingencies 
included the following, amongst others: 

● Obtaining legal confirmations with respect 
to any open legal matters. 

● Together with a barrister auditor expert: 
- made enquiries of management’s 

external legal counsel, read position 
papers, relevant legal advice and 
correspondence  

- considered possible legal outcomes and 
scenarios 

- assessed the consistency of the 
disclosure with the evidence provided by 
the Group. 

● Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in 
light of the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Uncertain tax positions (note 3.4)  

The Group’s financial reporting treatment of 
uncertain tax positions relating to the Endpoint 
project was a key audit matter because of the 
judgements applied in assessing the likelihood that 

Together with our taxation experts, our procedures 
over uncertain tax positions included the following, 
amongst others:  

• Evaluated the Group’s approach to reflect 
the uncertain tax position in the financial 
report in light of requirements under 
Australian Accounting Standards 



 

 

the relevant taxation authorities will accept the 
position adopted in the Group’s tax filings. 

 

• Evaluated the evidence available including 
correspondence with taxation authorities 
and enquiries with management and 
taxation authorities.   

• Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in 
light of the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Impairment assessment of intangible assets 
(note 5.4)  

The Group’s testing of intangible assets for 
impairment was a key audit matter, given the 
financial significance of intangible assets and the 
judgements applied in assessing the forward-looking 
assumptions the Group used in their value in use 
model.  

Together with our valuation experts, our procedures 
over the impairment of intangible assets included the 
following, amongst others:  

• Evaluated the Group’s determination of the 
cash generating unit (CGU) and the 
determination that goodwill is tested within 
a single CGU, based on our understanding of 
the Group’s business and assessment of how 
earnings are monitored and reported 
internally. 

• Assessed the impairment testing 
methodology used by the Group and 
evaluated whether it meets the requirements 
of Australian Accounting Standards. 

• Tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
Group’s value in use model. 

• Assessed the Group’s cash flow projections 
including consideration of historical 
accuracy of management forecasting and 
historical results. 

• Evaluated the Group’s assumption for 
terminal growth rate and discount rate in 
comparison to economic and industry 
forecasts 

• Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in 
light of the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditor's report, the other 
information we obtained included the directors’ report. We expect the remaining other information to 
be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report.  



 

 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our 
professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of 
our auditor's report. 



 

 

Report on the remuneration report 

Our opinion on the remuneration report 
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 24 to 49 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2021. 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Nuix Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards.  

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 

 

 
 

Scott Walsh Sydney 
Partner 30 September 2021 
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